HABITAT RELATIONSHIPS AND GENE FLOW OF *MARTES AMERICANA* IN NORTHERN IDAHO

By

TZEIDLE N. WASSERMAN

Accepted in Partial Completion of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

ML

Moheb A. Ghali, Dean of the Graduate School

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Dand D Mali

Chair, Dr. David O. Wallin

C ع

Dr. Leo R. Bodensteiner

Dr. Michael K. Schwartz

MASTER'S THESIS

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a master's degree at Western Washington University, I grant to Western Washington University the nonexclusive royalty-free right to archive, reproduce, distribute, and display the thesis in any and all forms, including electronic format, via any digital library mechanisms maintained by WWU.

I represent and warrant this is my original work, and does not infringe or violate any rights of others. I warrant that I have obtained written permissions from the owner of any third party copyrighted material included in these files.

I acknowledge that I retain ownership rights to the copyright of this work, including but not limited to the right to use all or part of this work in future works, such as articles or books.

Library users are granted permission for individual, research and non-commercial reproduction of this work for educational purposes only. Any further digital posting of this document requires specific permission from the author.

Any copying or publication of this thesis for commercial purposes, or for financial gain, is not allowed without my written permission.

Signature Leidle N. Wasser Date March 14, 2008

HABITAT RELATIONSHIPS AND GENE FLOW OF MARTES AMERICANA IN NORTHERN IDAHO

A Thesis Presented to The Faculty of Western Washington University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

By

Tzeidle N. Wasserman February 2008

ABSTRACT

Forest fragmentation can have a dramatic effect on landscape connectivity and dispersal of animals, potentially reducing gene flow within and among populations. American marten populations (*Martes americana*) are sensitive to forest fragmentation and the spatial configuration of patches of remnant mature forest has an important impact on habitat quality. This study represents an extensive multiple scale habitat relationships analysis conducted for American marten. In conjunction with Idaho Department of Fish and Game (IDFG) and the U.S. Forest Service, genetic data on marten populations across the Idaho Panhandle National Forest was used to build habitat relationships models. Over 3 years of winter fieldwork during 2004, 2005, and 2006, I detected martens at 569 individual hair snare stations distributed across a 3,000 square kilometer study area covering the Selkirk, Purcell, and Cabinet Mountain ranges.

I investigated habitat relationships of this population of *Martes americana* in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest (IPNF) at three spatial scales: Plot, Home Range, and Multiple-Scale. I used bivariate scaling to measure each environmental variable across a broad range of radii ranging from 90m-1080m around each sample station. I used an information-theoretic approach to rank 45 *a priori* candidate models that described hypothesized habitat relationships at each spatial scale. At the plot scale, marten presence was positively predicted by the Percentage of Landscape (PLand) comprised of large sawtimber, and negatively predicted by PLand of seedling/sapling timber type. At the home range scale, the probability of detecting a marten decreased with increasing amounts of fragmentation and highly contrasted edges between patches of large sawtimber and patches of seedling/sapling and non-stocked patches.

iv

In the multiple-scale analysis, I used a variable screening step to find variables that were universal and consistent throughout all models in order to build candidate models. PLand comprised of large homogeneous patches of large sawtimber was a positive predictor of marten presence, while highly contrasted edges and fragmentation were strong negative predictors of marten presence. The scale at which martens selected habitats varied greatly across variables. Martens actively selected for high quality habitat at the fine scale (plot level) and strongly avoided areas comprised of seedling/sapling and non-stocked timber areas. Martens negatively responded to high contrast edges and strongly avoided them. Juxtaposition and configuration of patches of large sawtimber was important to marten habitat selection. This study demonstrates the importance of investigating marten habitat at multiple spatial scales and provides insights to linkages among scales and how martens respond to forest fragmentation.

Genetic information was used to model genetic relationships of this marten population with respect to environmental and spatial variables within my study landscape. Over three field seasons 70 individual marten were detected across the study area. The genetic similarities were based on the pair-wise percentage dissimilarity among all individuals based on 7 microsatellite loci. I compared their genetic similarities with several landscape resistance hypotheses. The landscape resistance hypotheses describe a range of potential relationships between movement cost and landcover, elevation, roads, Euclidean distance and valleys between mountain ranges as barriers. The degree of support for each model was tested with causal modeling on resemblance matrices using partial Mantel tests.

v

Hypotheses of Isolation by Distance and Isolation by Barrier were not supported, and Isolation by Landscape Resistance proved to be the best model describing genetic patterns of *Martes americana* in the IPNF. Elevation 1600m with a standard deviation of 600m was the most highly supported landscape resistance model correlated to genetic structure of marten in this landscape. Correlating genetic similarity of individuals across large landscapes with hypothetical movement cost models can give reliable inferences about population connectivity. By linking cost modeling to the actual patterns of genetic similarity among individuals it is possible to obtain rigorous, empirical models describing the relationship between landscape structure and gene flow, and to produce speciesspecific maps of landscape connectivity, and can provide managers with critical information to better administer our forests for meso-carnivores and other species of concern.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was part of a cooperative research project on the American marten (*Martes americana*) and fisher (*Martes pennanti*) in conjunction with Idaho Department of Fish and Game, the U.S. Forest Service, and Western Washington University. This work was possible thanks to the hard work and encouragement of Jim Hayden of the Idaho Department of Fish and Game who gave me great support. Funding for this project was provided and by Idaho Department of Fish and Game, the U.S. Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, and grants from Huxley College of the Environment and Western Washington University Bureau for Faculty Research. I would like to thank my committee: David O. Wallin, Leo R. Bodensteiner, and Michael K. Schwartz for their guidance and support. Thank you for all the hard work contributed by the many technicians and volunteers who helped collect this data. Thank you to the Wildlife Genetics Lab in the U.S. Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station for aid in genetic analysis. Mostly, I would like to thank my family for their ongoing encouragement, support and advice.

Abstract	iv
Acknowledgements	vii
List of Tables and Figures Chapter 1	X
List of Tables and Figures Chapter 2.	xiv
CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction	1
Objectives	2
Marten Ecology	4
Habitat Associations	6
Study Area	10
Methods	11
Survey Methods	11
Genetic Methods	11
Habitat Modeling	12
Plot Level Analysis	17
Home Range Analysis	
Multiple-Scale Analysis	19
Model Selection and Analysis	21
Results	24
Survey Results	24
Genetic Results	24
Habitat Models	24
Plot Level Analysis	24
Home Range Analysis	26
Multiple-Scale Analysis	26
A) Scaling	26
B) Universality and Consistency	27
C) Candidate Models from Universal and Consistent Variables	
Discussion	31
Scaling	
Plot Level Analysis	32
Home Range Analysis	33
Multiple-scale Analysis	34
Comparing all 3 sets of models	37
Conclusion	
Management Implications	43
CHAPTER 2	65
Introduction	65
Landscape Genetics	65
Individual vs. Population Level Analyses	67
Objectives	70
Three Alternative Organizational Models	70
Methods	73
Genetic Sampling	73

Table of Contents

Genetic Analyses	3
Genetic Distance	4
Isolation By Geographic Distance	5
Isolation By Barrier	5
Isolation By Landscape Resistance	6
Landscape-Resistance Modeling	7
Calculating Least Cost Distances among Marten Locations for Each Hypothesis7	7
Scaling Landscape Factors	8
Multi-variable Landscape Resistance Hypotheses	0
Support for Models of Genetic Structure	1
Results	4
Genetic Results	4
Isolation by Distance Model	4
Isolation by Barrier Model	4
Landscape Resistance Models	5
A) Elevation	5
B) DBH and Canopy Cover	6
C) Factorial Models	5
Discussion	3
Conclusion	3
References11	6

Chapter 1: List of Tables

- Table 1.Vegetation and timber classification on both state and federal lands in the
Idaho Panhandle National Forest. Seral stage is presented with Diameter
at Breast Height (DBH).
- Table 2.Contrast Weighted Edge Density file used in FRAGSTATS for weighting.
Weights are the dissimilarity between patch types and are scaled 0-1.
- Table 3.List of predictor variables used in candidate models for the Plot level
(90m), Home Range level (630m) and Multi-scale analyses. A description
of each variable is provided. X's Denote variable was used in the analysis
at that particular scale.
- Table 4.Set of candidate models at the Plot level (90m). K is number of
parameters. Variables were selected for model inclusion was based on
univariate analysis. A total of 16 models were tested.
- Table 5.Set of candidate models at the Home Range level (630m). K is number of
parameters. Variables were selected for model inclusion was based on
univariate analysis. There were 23 total models tested.
- Table 6. Candidate models at the plot level (90m) sorted by AIC. AIC, Δ AIC, and AIC weights (w_i) are shown. K is number of parameters. Top models with AIC<2 are highlighted. Models below the dashed line represent models that were not significant (p<0.05).
- Table 7. Candidate models at the Home Range scale (630m). AIC, Δ AIC, and AIC weights (w_i) are shown. K is number of parameters. Top model with AIC<2 is highlighted. Models below the dashed line represent models that were not significant (p<0.05).
- Table 8.P-values of Bivariate Scaling output of variables by Wilcoxon Rank Sum
Scores raked by presence/non-detection (p=0.05). Most highly significant
scales are highlighted for each variable. Scales are in meters.
- Table 9.Variables that were highly consistent (>99%) and universal throughout the
factorial combination of all models. There were a total of 2, 048 models
in a mirrored matrix therefore I evaluated 1,024 models. Coefficients of
each variable, proportion of times each variable was significant, number of
models and the percentage each variable was either positive or negative.
- Table 10.Candidate Multiple-Scale models based on variables screened with
Universality and Consistency. K is number of parameters.

- Table 11. Significant Multiple-Scale Universal and Consistent candidate models sorted by AIC. AIC and \triangle AIC. AIC weights (w_i) are shown. K is number of parameters. Top model with AIC<2 is highlighted.
- Table 12. Most highly supported models and coefficients from significant candidate models for Plot Level (90m)analysis. AIC, Δ AIC and *wi* are shown. Top ranked model and models with Δ AIC < 2 are shown. (** denotes highly significant variables in each model).
- Table 13. Most highly supported models and coefficients from significant candidate models for the Home Range level (630m). AIC, Δ AIC and *wi* are shown. Top ranked model and models with Δ AIC < 2 are shown. (** denotes highly significant variables in each model).
- Table 14.Most highly supported model and coefficients from significant candidate
Multiple-scale models for universal and consistent variables. AIC, Δ AIC
and wi are shown. Top ranked model and models with Δ AIC < 2 are
shown. (** denotes highly significant variables in each model).

Chapter 1: List of Figures

- Figure 1. Detailed picture of study area located in the panhandle of northern Idaho visualized on a Digital Elevation Map (DEM). This details the Selkirk Mountain range to the west, the Purcell Mountain range to the east, and the Canbinet Mountain range in the southeast corner of this map. The Kootenai River runs between theses ranges.
- Figure 2. The shaded areas in this map show the historical distribution of *Martes americana* across the state of Idaho. The circled area denotes my study area located in the panhandle of northern Idaho within the Idaho Panhandle National Forest.
- Figure 3: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Large sawtimber at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).
- Figure 4: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Small sawtimber at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).
- Figure 5: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Non-forest at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).
- Figure 6: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Seedling/Sapling timber at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).
- Figure 7: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Pole timber at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).
- Figure 8: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Non-stocked timber at scales 90m-1080m . Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).
- Figure 9: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS landscape metric Area Weighted Mean Patch Size (AREA_AM) at scales 90m-1080m.

Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p < 0.05).

- Figure 10: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS landscape metric Contrast Weighted Edge Density (CWED) at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).
- Figure 11: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS landscape metric Contagion at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).
- Figure 12: Bivariate scaling of Moisture Index at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).
- Figure 13: Bivariate scaling of Elevation at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).

Chapter 2: List of Tables

- Table 1:Summary of genetic diversity of 7 microsatellite loci of a Martes
americana population in Northern Idaho. Allelic richness (A) and
expected heterozygosity (He), and (Fis) are shown.
- Table 2:Models of genetic distance by geographic distance and genetic distance by
barrier. Mantel tests and partial Mantel tests were used in landscape
genetics modeling testing the hypotheses of Isolation by barrier and
Isolation by distance. G = Genetic Distance, D = Geographic Distance,
and B = Barrier.
- Table 3:Forest Class Type based on Diameter at Breast Height and timber
classification on both state and federal lands in the Idaho Panhandle Nat'l
Forest used as a resistance map in landscape resistance modeling.
Diameter at Breast Height (DBH) is presented.
- Table 4:Models of elevation and standard deviations tested to predict genetic
structure of *Martes americana* with respect to landscape resistance. A
factorial combination of all elevations and all standard deviations was
used, yielding 72 total elevation models. The highest ranked elevation
model was then used in factorial landscape resistance modeling.
- Table 5:Models of Landscape Resistance hypothesized to have an effect on genetic
structure of *Martes americana* in the IPNF. Models include1 level of
Roads, 8 Percent Canopy Cover power functions, and 8 DBH power
functions. Models were tested using Mantel and Partial Mantel's tests.
Highest ranked models were then used in the full factorial modeling. G =
Genetic Distance.
- Table 6.Causal modeling and diagnostic expectations for partial Mantel tests
which allow for the rejection of incorrect causal explanations of genetic
patterns. G = matrix of pair-wise genetic dissimilarity; B = model matrix
separating individuals among the three mountain ranges; D = matrix of
pair-wise Euclidean distance among sampled individuals; L = matrix of
pair-wise cost distance among sampled individuals for a landscape
resistance hypothesis. $G \sim B$ indicates a Mantel test between genetic
dissimilarity and the Barrier model matrix; $G \sim B|D$ indicates a partial
Mantel test between genetic dissimilarity and the effects of Euclidean distance among sampled
individuals.
- Table 7:Pairwise Fst (measure of genetic divergence) of Martes americanapopulation genetic data by mountain range in the IPNF.

- Table 8:Results of models testing the hypotheses of Isolation by barrier and
Isolation by distance using Mantel tests and partial Mantel tests. G =
Genetic Distance, D = Geographic Distance (Euclidean), and B = Barrier.
Mantel's r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values are given
(significance level based on p< 0.05).</th>
- Table 9:Results of the factorial elevation and standard deviation models used to
predict genetic structure of *Martes americana* with respect to landscape
resistance. A factorial combination of all elevations and all standard
deviations was used, yielding 72 total elevation models. The highest
ranked elevation model was then used in factorial landscape resistance
modeling. Mantel's r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values are given
(significance level based on p< 0.05).</th>
- Table 10:Mantel test results models of DBH, Percent Canopy Cover, and Roads.
Output is shown with Mantel's r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values
(significance level based on p < 0.05). The most supported model is
marked by ***. Highest ranked scale of each variable was used for
landscape resistance modeling. G = Genetic Distance.
- Table 11:Partial Mantel test results of models of DBH, Percent Canopy Cover,
Roads, and most highly supported model of Elevation. Output is shown
with Mantel's r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values (significance
level based on p < 0.05). G = Genetic Distance.
- Table 12:Factorial Landscape Resistance models used to model the full factorial of
resistance to gene flow in *Martes americana*. G = Genetic Distance.
- Table 13:Results of the factorial landscape resistance models used to model the full
factorial of resistance to gene flow in *Martes americana*. Results are
ranked by Mantel's r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values
(significance level based on p< 0.05). G = Genetic Distance (Dashed line
represents end of 95% confidence interval).
- Table 14:Table 14:Correlation between genetic distance and models of landscape
resistance, barrier, and geographic distance of *Martes americana* in
Northern Idaho. Results are based on 10,000 permutations. Mantel's r
and corresponding p-values are given (significance level based on p<
0.05).
- Table 15:Causal modeling and diagnostic expectations results for partial Mantel
tests which allow for the rejection of incorrect causal explanations of
genetic patterns. G = matrix of pair-wise genetic dissimilarity; B = model
matrix separating individuals among the three mountain ranges; D =
matrix of pair-wise Euclidean distance among sampled individuals; L =
matrix of pair-wise cost distance among sampled individuals for a

landscape resistance hypothesis. G ~ B indicates a Mantel test between genetic dissimilarity and the Barrier model matrix; G ~ B|D indicates a partial Mantel test between genetic dissimilarity and the Barrier model matrix, while partialling out the effects of Euclidean distance among sampled individuals.

Chapter 2: List of Figures

- Figure 1: Conceptual models of hypotheses that structure *Martes Americana* populations in the IPNF. Model 1 is Isolation By Geographic Distance, Model 2 is Isolation By Barrier, and Model 3 is Isolation By Landscape Resistance.
- Figure 2: View of study area located in northern Idaho highlighting the spatial location of the Selkirk, Purcell, and Cabinet mountain ranges in relation to each other as well as the Kootenai River Valley. Locations of all survey sites are also shown.
- Figure 3: Power fitted functions for percent canopy cover as related to resistance value on the landscape resistance map. Power functions are at 8 different scales: linear, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th power.
- Figure 4: Power fitted functions for forest class based on 5 different classes, as related to resistance value on the landscape resistance map. Power functions are at 8 different scales: linear, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th power.
- Figure 5: Results of PCA performed on all genetic samples collected in the IPNF and their corresponding location in the landscape based on UTM coordinates. Results indicate that there is little obvious genetic substructure of this population within the IPNF. This population may be best represented as a "genetic gradient" across the landscape rather than a discrete population.
- Figure 6: Digital Elevation Model (DEM) of elevation across the entire study area of the Idaho Panhandle National Forest in northern Idaho. Dark shaded area represent areas of low elevation while light areas represent high elevation.
- Figure 7: Visualization of the most supported model of landscape resistance, Elevation 1600m s.d. 600m (Table 13). This model depicts gene flow in the IPNF is strongly related to elevation, with movement facilitated at an optimum elevation of 1600m s.d. 600m. Dark areas represent low resistance to movement, while light areas represent high resistance to movement in relation to elevation across this landscape.

CHAPTER 1:

Multiple-Scale Habitat Relationships of American marten (Martes americana) in northern Idaho

INTRODUCTION

The information theoretic approach has become the dominant paradigm for use in wildlife habitat selection studies (Burnham and Anderson 2002; Johnson and Omland 2004). Although the advantages of this approach have been extensively reviewed (but see Guthery et al. 2005 and Stephens et al. 2005), very little attention has been given to scaling issues when selecting variables for inclusion in candidate models. For most species, a priori information is available to guide decisions regarding appropriate variables for inclusion in candidate models. However, the effect of a given variable on habitat selection may manifest itself at spatial scales ranging from a few meters to kilometers (e.g. Thompson and McGarigal 2002). A priori, it is problematic to determine which scale is most appropriate (Levin 1992). Most habitat selection studies fail to address this issue and simply evaluate alternative models that are based on predictor variables from a single, arbitrarily selected scale. In this study, I introduce a multiplescale approach to developing habitat selection studies. I illustrate this approach by developing and evaluating multiple-scale habitat selection models for the American marten (Martes americana) in northern Idaho.

American marten in the Rocky Mountains have been shown to be tightly associated with late-successional coniferous forests (Buskirk and Powell 1994; Campbell 1979; Soutiere 1979; Stevenson and Major 1982; and Wilbert 1992). Forest carnivores such as marten require relatively large areas of late-successional forest within their home ranges and these late-successional forests are predominantly found on public lands. As a result of the conversion of extensive tracts of late seral forest to fragmented mosaics of mixed seral stages following timber harvest, the geographic ranges of many forest carnivore species have been dramatically reduced. Currently, at least 65% of the geographic range of American marten is found on public lands (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994).

Management policies on public forestlands are among the most contentious and politically charged issues in the region. Much of the controversy involves balancing economic and social issues such as recreation and timber production, with ecological issues such as wildlife preservation. Late-successional forests are home to many species of plants, birds, and mammals that rely on this floristic stage as their primary habitat for foraging and reproduction. Late-successional forests are also in prime stage for timber harvesting activities, which provide economic and social gains to many people. In 1976, the U.S. Congress passed the National Forest Management Act, which mandated maintaining biological diversity on lands within the National Forest System. The implementation and interpretation of the requirements of this act continue to drive many legal challenges to forest management policies and practices on our national forests.

Objectives

This study is intended to characterize the habitat relationships of American marten populations in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest (IPNF) in northern Idaho and expand the scientific knowledge of this species in the Northern Rocky Mountains. This knowledge is intended to help guide future management of marten populations in this

study area, as well as other species with similar habitat requirements within the region. I will accomplish this by using multi-model inference in a logistic regression framework to predict suitable marten winter habitat at the landscape-level based on multiple-scale environmental data, and then develop multiple scale habitat relationship models for American marten to predict occurrence based on habitat and disturbance history. Working jointly with the Idaho Department of Fish and Game (IDFG) and the U.S. Forest Service (USFS) the goal of this study is to evaluate important components of marten habitat selection at a variety of spatial scales as well as determine the genetic relationships of all individual marten detected across the study landscape.

For any given variable, there is no a priori way to know the spatial extent surrounding the sample point at which the variable is most strongly related to marten presence. Therefore, it is best to measure each environmental variable across a broad range of radii surrounding each sampled plot to determine the scale(s) at which each predictor variable is most related to the response (Cushman et al. 2007). Bivariate scaling (Grand et al. 2004; Thompson and McGarigal 2002) has been shown to be a highly effective method for identifying the appropriate scale in species-environment relationship modeling. Characterizing the landscape surrounding each point at multiple scales facilitates the selection of the appropriate scale(s) at which each aspect of landscape composition was most significant for my focal species. The patterns of the response variable (predicted probability of marten presence) are associated with multiple environmental variables, and each variable is likely to most strongly influence habitat selection at a different spatial scale. Previous habitat relationship studies on *Martes americana* have not considered these scaling issues. My objective is to identify the

variables that most strongly influence habitat selection for *Martes americana* in northern Idaho and the scale at which each of these variables is most important.

Marten Ecology

The American marten (*Martes americana*) is a forest carnivore that occupies a narrow range of habitat types in coniferous forests. It is one of seven species in the genus *Martes*, in the family Mustelidae, and order Carnivora (Corbet and Hill 1986). American marten have been historically trapped for their fur over much of their range. Currently, American marten are not considered threatened or endangered in the state of Idaho and are managed as a furbearer species by the state. The USFS Region 1 has designated American marten as a management indicator species in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest in northern Idaho. According to NatureServe, the Global Conservation Status Rank of *Martes americana* is G5; secure, common, widespread and abundant. Within the state of Idaho, the NatureServe ranking is S5, indicating the population is secure, common, widespread, and abundant (Nature Serve 2008).

American marten are broadly distributed and its range extends from spruce-fir forests in northern New Mexico to arctic Alaska and Canadian forest limits, as well as from the Californian southern Sierra Nevadas to Newfoundland Island (Hall 1981). In the western contiguous United States its distribution is limited to forests and mountain ranges that provide preferred habitat containing mature forests (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). American marten associate with late-successional stands of mesic conifers that provide extensive complex physical structure at or near the ground (Buskirk and Powell 1994). American marten have been documented inhabiting talus fields above treeline

(Streetere and Braun 1968), however they are rarely found below the lower elevational limit of trees or in non-forested areas. American martens are mid-size carnivorous animals with a total length between 500-680 mm and weighs between 500-1400 grams as an adult, with males being 20-40% larger than females. Diet of the American marten includes insects, small mammals, berries, eggs, and nestlings (Koehler and Hornocker 1977; Simon 1980). American martens hunt for small mammals on the ground or on the surface of the snow. Prey that live beneath the snow are caught by entering the subnivean space created by coarse woody debris and other woody structures (Corn and Raphael 1992; Koehler et al. 1975). Avoidance of predators such as coyote (*Canis latrans*), red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) and Great-horned owls (*Bubo virginianus*) is thought to be a strong driver of habitat selection, and is reflected in their strong avoidance of open areas (Hawley and Newby 1957). American martens avoid open areas lacking overhead cover and coarse woody debris that provide protection from predators (Drew 1995).

The mechanisms by which martens are impacted by timber harvesting are when overhead cover and large diameter coarse woody debris are removed, as well as when mesic sites are converted to more xeric sites with associated changes in prey communities, as in the case of clear-cutting (Campbell 1979). Structural features that develop with succession, such as overhead cover, large diameter coarse woody debris structure, and horizontal heterogeneity of vegetation are all extremely important to marten habitat selection. Studies by Fager (1991), Koehler and Hornocker (1977), Soutiere (1979), Simon (1980), Slauson (2003) and Spencer et al. (1983) have all reported complete or partial avoidance of non-forested habitats. Landscape patterns have been shown to be important to marten habitat selection. Collectively, these previous

studies suggest that martens build home ranges from landscapes rather than stands, and overall structural complexity and juxtaposition of stands within the landscape is important.

Habitat Associations

Landscapes are often described as spatially heterogeneous areas composed of a mosaic of habitat patches (Turner 1989). An individual patch differs from its surroundings in both composition and structure, and the mosaic of habitat patches is considered dynamic in both space and time (Wiens 1976). The composition, structure, number, area, distribution, size, and configuration of these patches defines the structure of the landscape. Landscapes and their structural elements are perceived uniquely by different species (Kotliar and Wiens 1990), and the quality of elements within the landscape determines how an animal will move and use the resources within that landscape. The scale in which humans perceive habitat is likely much different than that experienced by the animal. The way in which each animal interacts with the landscape is influenced by the spatial and temporal scales over which it subsists and the configuration of the landscape itself (Turner and Gardner 1991). For martens, capture rates have been shown to decrease with increasing proximity of open areas as well as increasing extent of high contrast edges (Hargis et al. 1999). Clearly, both structural elements as well as landscape patterns are important for American marten.

The American marten is considered one of the most habitat-specific mammals in North America (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994; Harris 1994). Several studies have found that there are seasonal differences in the ages of stands used by martens, with selection

for older forests during the winter (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). American martens are highly mobile animals and have home ranges that are 3-4 times larger than predicted for a 1 kg terrestrial mammalian carnivore (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). Home range size has been shown to vary depending on prey abundance and habitat type (Soutiere 1979; Thompson and Colgan 1987). Home ranges for American marten have been shown to vary significantly among sites for males, but not for females. The largest documented home range was found to be 15.7 km² in Minnesota (Mech and Rogers 1977), and was 25 times the size of the smallest home range (male mean = 0.8 km^2) reported by Burnett (1981) in Montana. Male home range sizes were 1.9 times those of females. Home ranges in landscapes with clearcuts can be from 1.5 to 3.1 times greater than those from landscapes without clearcuts (Thompson and Colgan 1987). Katnik (1992) found that in an industrial forest site, martens occupied home ranges that included more mature forest and less clearcut and regenerating forest relative to their availability. In an adjacent forest reserve, where clearcuts and regenerating forest were not present, martens did not exhibit selection at the home-range scale (Chapin et al. 1998). Martens appear to consider habitat heterogeneity, interspersion, and juxtaposition when establishing a home range. In my study area in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest, marten home range is thought to be between 1.6 and 1.9 km² (Burnett 1981; Tomson 1999), and is considerably smaller than other documented home ranges.

Particular species select habitat across a hierarchy of scales. The effect of scale can be studied by examining habitat relationships across a variety of spatial scales. Individual animals respond to their environment over several spatial scales, with the smallest scale corresponding at the grain of the animal, and the largest scale being as

large as its home range (Kotliar and Wiens 1990). An animal's life history needs, including foraging, resting, and searching for mates motivate habitat selection at each of these scales (Bissonette et al. 1997). Habitat selection studies should therefore examine which habitat characteristics are most important to consider and at what spatial scale they should be measured (Johnson 1980). Multiple-scale investigations are more robust over single-scale investigations because studies conducted over several spatial scales facilitate a greater understanding of how animals assimilate information and make decisions that influence habitat selection (Ritchie 1997; Slauson 2003). In this study, I examined marten occurrence with respect to environmental features across multiple scales ranging from the plot scale (90 m) to the landscape scale (1080 m) in 90 m increments around the point of detection.

Habitat use by American marten is dependent on a variety of spatial scales. At the finest scale, martens select habitat features that provide foraging, resting, and denning sites. Martens exhibit seasonal variation in the types of prey and forage items utilized (Martin 1994; Strickland and Douglas 1987). Mammal species include voles (*Clethrionomys, Microtus*), red squirrels (*Tamiascurius ruficanus*.), ground squirrels (*Spermophilus*), and chipmunks (*Tamias*), and are important components of their diet in the western United States (Martin 1994). These species are most important during the winter months when prey options are most limited (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). This seasonal variation in forage preference can result in seasonal variation in the habitat selection at a fine scale. However, it should be noted that marten do not undergo seasonal shifts in the size of their home ranges. In the western U.S., prey species such as red-backed voles (*Clethrionomys gapperi*) and red squirrels (*Tamiascurus ruficanus*) are

closely associated with components of late successional forests. Both of these species are more abundant in mature coniferous forests than in young open canopy areas.

Within the stand and home range scales, martens select structures for resting and denning that will provide protection from both the thermal environment as well as predators (Buskirk and Powell 1994; Taylor 1993). Variation in use of these structures changes seasonally, with above-ground structures used more during summer and fall and subnivien structures used more during winter (Chapin et al. 1998; Gilbert et al. 1997; Raphael and Jones 1997; Wilbert 1992). Resting and denning sites are most commonly located in woody structures (live trees, snags, logs) that tend to be in the largest available size classes and are used disproportionate to their availability (Gilbert et al. 1997; Raphael and Jones 1997; Ruggiero and Pearson 1998; Wilbert 1992).

Loss and fragmentation of mature forest and the resulting changes in landscape pattern constrain animal movement (Bissonette et al.1989; Chapin 1995; Hargis 1996) and demography (Fredrickson 1990; Hargis 1996). Martens respond negatively to low levels of fragmentation with capture rates decreasing with increased rates of fragmentation, and were absent in landscapes with >25% non-forest cover (Hargis et al. 1999). Studies conducted in Maine, Utah, and Quebec found that martens appear to avoid landscapes with more than 25-30% of mature forest removed (Bissonette et al. 1997; Potvin et al. 1999). Landscape characteristics, such as distance between small and large patches have been shown to influence the use of patches by martens (Chapin et al. 1998). Phillips (1994) demonstrated that martens used only 33% of the available landscape in the industrial forest site, while they occupied >80% of the landscape in a nearby forest preserve.

Study Area

The study area encompasses the Bonners Ferry and Priest River Ranger Districts on the Idaho Panhandle National Forest (IPNF) (Figure 1). The area primarily consists of the Selkirk, Purcell, and Cabinet Mountains encompassing a 3,000 square kilometer landscape. The topography is mountainous, with steep ridges, narrow valleys and many cliffs and circuid at the highest elevations. Elevation ranged from approximately 700 m to 2400 m above sea level. The Kootenai River trench runs down the middle of the study area, separating the Selkirk Mountains on the west from the Purcell and Cabinet Mountains on the east, with a five to seven mile wide unforested, agricultural valley and a broad, deep river between. The climate is characterized by cold, wet winters and mild summers. The area is heavily forested, with Abies lasiocarpa and Picea engelmannii codominant above 1300 meters, and a diverse mixed forest of *Pseudotsuga menziesii*, Pinus contorta, Pinus ponderosa, Pinus monticola, Abies grandis, Tsuga heterophylla, Thuja plicata, Larix occidentalis, Betula papyrifera, Populus tremuloides, Populus trichocarpa dominating below 1300 meters. The climate varies with respect to the elevational and topographic gradients. Temperatures range from an average high of 28.3 °C in July to an average low of 0 °C in January. Precipitation ranges from a mean of more than 1,778 mm in the highest peaks to less than 762.0 mm within the rain shadow of the Selkirk Mountains.

METHODS

Survey Methods

Hair snares were set along transects across the IPNF during the winter months of January, February, and March of 2004, 2005 and 2006. Transects consisted of a range of elevational and topographic gradients. Each snare consisted of a 1m X 1m corrugated plastic sheet folded into a triangular tunnel with metal mesh wire placed on the back end of the snare, creating a one-way opening. Snares were baited with deer meat and beaver castor placed at the back of the trap. A commercial call lure called gusto (Minnesota Trapline Products) was also dabbed onto a sponge and hung above the trap. Each trap was lined with 5 copper wire 30-caliber gunbrushes to non-invasively obtain hair samples from animals visiting the snare. Snares were set for 2 weeks after which each station was revisited to collect hair samples and re-baited for another 2-week cycle. During the check, hair was collected from the gunbrushes using tweezers and put into plastic tubes filled with dessicant and individually labeled. Each gunbrush is considered a single sample.

Genetic Methods

Hair samples were sent to the Rocky Mountain Research Station (RMRS) Wildlife Genetics Lab in Missoula, MT. Hair samples taken from each gunbrush were genetically analyzed at both the species and individual level. Once hair samples were obtained, samples were processed to extract mitochondrial Deoxyribonucleic Acid (DNA) and separate it from other cellular material. A primer is added and Polymerase

Chain Reaction (PCR) is performed to amplify and replicate the DNA strand. Bands are then separated by size via agarose gel electrophoresis and compared with a DNA ladder, which contains DNA fragments of known size, and ran on the gel alongside the PCR products. Species identification was determined using diagnostic restriction enzyme patterns followed by amplification of a region of cytochrome b on mitochondrial DNA. Following DNA amplification, PCR products were digested in three restriction reactions with *Hinf*I, *Hae*III, and *Mbo*I (Riddle et al. 2003). This method allows the discrimination of mustelid species from all other species. Martens are recognized from the location of the band on the PCR, and this method was also used to identify other species within the family Mustelidae, such as fisher (*Martes pennanti*) and wolverine (*Gulo gulo*).

Habitat Modeling

I developed and analyzed a series of models to determine the relative importance of various factors on marten habitat selection. A priori, I hypothesized that variables including elevation, moisture index, road density, vegetation type, and seral stage would have a strong influence on marten occurrence within the landscape. Elevation and moisture index were extracted from a Digital Elevation Model (DEM) of the study area (USGS 2000) and developed into individual raster grids using ArcGIS (ESRI 2003). Moisture index, also known as Topographic Wetness Index (TWI), was developed by Beven and Kirkby (1979). It is defined as ln(a/slope) where *a* is the local upslope area draining through a certain point per unit contour length. Both base maps were resampled to 30 m pixel size. Focal Mean statistics were calculated across 12 scales ranging from 90 m (plot level) to 1080 m (landscape level) in 90 m intervals. A scaling

endpoint of 1080 m was chosen because it encompassed the upper end of the largest possible marten home range that could exist in this study area (Tomson 1999).

A kernel density function was calculated for road density within my study area. There were 2 classes of roads: All Roads and Open/Gated roads (Sloan et al. pers com.). The All Roads layer included paved and dirt roads within the study area that are both maintained and unmaintained. This designation includes logging roads that are grown over, and decommissioned roads that are currently not drivable but may still provide movement corridors for animals. Open/Gated Roads are both paved and dirt roads that are maintained by the USFS and the county, and are passable by vehicles. This roads layer was re-sampled to 30 m pixel size. Density of roads is calculated with a kernel method using the Point Density function in ArcGIS (ESRI 2003). This calculates the density of roads within a kernel (weighted function) of a specified radius. Road effects are then based on this kernel, which specifies a distance function. In this case, specified distances (scaling) were 180 m-1980 m in 180 m increments around each cell.

This study area contained lands managed by US Forest Service, private lands, as well as Idaho State lands. I compiled GIS layers of seral stage and vegetation type, which were obtained from the USFS Idaho Panhandle National Forest vegetation survey as well as the Idaho Department of Lands (IDL). I created a layer that was a merged map combining the current USFS IPNF Stands map (Art Zack pers. comm.) and the IDL Timber Type map depicting Diameter at Breast Height (DBH) size classes within timber stands contained in my study area (IDL 2006). DBH size classes and their descriptions are found in Table 1. Base maps were re-sampled to 30 m pixel size.

I conducted a moving window analysis with FRAGSTATS (McGarigal et al.

2002) to calculate a selection of metrics for focal window sizes from 90 m-1080 m in 90 m increments using. I elected to generate the following metrics:

- Percentage of landscape (PLand): This metric measures landscape composition and quantifies how much of the landscape is comprised of a particular patch type (or habitat). It is a class level metric.
- 2) Contrast weighted edge density (CWED): This metric computes the density of all edges in all patches in the landscape weighted by the degree of contrast between adjacent patches. A low level of CWED would indicate a low level of fragmentation, while a high level would indicate high fragmentation within the landscape. CWED increases as the amount of edge in the landscape increases and/or as the contrast in edges involving the corresponding patch type increase (i.e., contrast weight approaches 1). It is a landscape level metric. Weights are determined by the user (low to high), based on the map classification (Table 2).
- 3) Contagion: It is essentially an index of aggregation at the landscape level. This metric describes the degree of clumping of the landscape into large homogeneous patches. It measures fragmentation based on cell size distribution. A landscape with high Contagion would include regions with large clumps of the same cell type. A low level of Contagion would indicate a disaggregated landscape with many small regions of different adjacent cell types. It is a landscape level metric.

4) Area_AM: Area Weighted Mean Patch Size. This metric describes the area weighted mean patch size across all patch types at the landscape level. It is an index of landscape level fragmentation. It measures the degree to which the landscape is dominated by large patches vs. small patches based on patch size distribution. A high value indicates relatively low levels of fragmentation and dominated by large patches, while low values indicate high levels of fragmentation.

I used a logistic regression modeling framework to identify the predicted probability of marten habitat use, based on comparing habitat variables at sites with marten presence to sites where marten were not detected. Given a binary response variable with a binomial distribution (marten present or non-detected), the study conforms to standard logistic regression. The mathematical model for the logistic function is as follows:

where P is the predicted probability of marten presence for the given combination of covariates (X_i), and slopes (β_1), and the intercept (β_0) are maximum likelihood estimates. In order to investigate factors influencing marten habitat selection, I compared three different sets of models utilizing different scales of habitat relationships: Plot level (90 m), home range (630 m), and across multiple scales using bivariate scaling of habitat variables. This allowed the comparison of three different analyses across different spatial scales.

For the stand, home range, and multiple-scale analysis I used an informationtheoretic method based on Kullback-Leibler information, an equation describing the information lost when a model is used to approximate truth (Burnham and Anderson 1998). In order to develop individual models for each spatial scale, I first extensively reviewed previously published studies on the habitat ecology of American martens to determine a set of characteristics that are likely to be important in determining the use or selection of a site at the stand, home range and multiple scales. I then added variables that I hypothesized to have ecological importance to American martens within my study region. In order to limit the number of variables, and thus the number of candidate models, each potential variable was screened based on the following criteria: 1) The variable is relevant to the study region, 2) The variable is measurable, has a high level of precision, and was measured in the field or is available in existing GIS coverages, 3) The variable was identified to be important in a previously published study on American martens or hypothesized to be an important characteristics of forests in the study region, 4) The variable is of likely biological importance to martens, and 5) The variable is evaluated at the appropriate scale (Slauson 2003). All variables meeting the screening criteria were used to develop competing models representing alternative hypotheses for habitat selection at each spatial scale. Conceptual models were then translated into logistic regression models using the selected variables for each scale. The resulting model sets represented competing hypotheses about scale-specific characteristics that drive marten habitat selection. Variables that did not meet these criteria were excluded from further consideration.

Plot Level Analysis

At the plot scale, variables were measured within a 90 m radius around each snare location. For each set of predictor variables I developed logistic regression models using the selected variables for this scale. Each model represented a plausible mechanism whereby predictor variables may determine marten presence. Only variables that had a significant univariate Wilcoxon Rank Sum Score (p-value <0.05) at the plot level (90 m) scale were included. Variables selected for inclusion in candidate models at the plot level (90 m) are presented in Table 3. Explanatory variables at the plot scale included structural, compositional, and topographic characteristics of stands.

For the plot level analysis, I chose two landscape composition variables, PLand of Large sawtimber and PLand of Seedling/sapling, both of which were significantly related to marten occurrence based on the univariate analyses. Several studies on martens have shown close association with later seral stages (e.g. Buskirk 1984; Buskirk and Powell 1994; Campbell 1979; Slough 1989) and have several life history needs (foraging, resting, denning) that are directly linked to the presence of large live trees, snags, and logs typically most abundant in the later seral stages. Elevation also was a significant univariate predictor, which is not surprising given its strong relationship with microclimate conditions. I chose contrast weighted edge density (CWED) to represent landscape fragmentation, and I chose the All Roads layer to test the effects of roads as a fragmenting feature within stands. Candidate models at the plot level (90 m) used for hypothesis testing and logistic regression modeling are shown in Table 4.

Home Range Analysis

For the home range analysis, variables were measured within a 630 m radius around each snare location, approximately corresponding to the average marten home range in northern Idaho (Tomson 1999). Explanatory variables at the home range scale included structural, compositional, and topographic characteristics found within home ranges. Landscape composition variables were selected based on their univariate significance in predicting marten presence at the 630 m scale (Table 3). At the home range scale (630 m), all vegetation classes were included in candidate models. I selected all vegetation classes in order to describe the stage of stand development and corresponding level of structural diversity within the home range. Chapin et al. (1998) found that marten home ranges contained significantly larger maximum patch sizes of mature forest than would be expected by chance. Topographical Moisture Index was included to test the hypothesis that American martens locate home ranges in relatively mesic habitats, due to microclimate conditions and enhanced productivity. Elevation has a strong influence on the microclimate conditions and was thought to play a role in habitat selection due to the distribution of vegetation types, snow conditions and prey communities along the elevational gradient. CWED is an index of fragmentation and was chosen to evaluate the degree of fragmentation of the landscape by high contrast edges between different patch types. The All roads layer was chosen to test the whether roads act as a fragmenting feature within landscapes which affects the probability of marten occupancy at the home range scale. Candidate models for the home range analysis used for hypothesis testing and logistic regression modeling are shown in Table 5.

Multiple-scale Analysis

The objective of testing alternative models containing variables at multiple scales is to explore whether American marten select habitat features at different scales within this study area. For example, it may be that the factors that are the strongest predictors of marten occupancy at the home range scale and those that predict marten foraging habitat at the 90m scale may be different. Evaluating multiple-scale models enables clear identification of multiple-scale habitat selection, if it exists.

The analysis begins with a univariate scaling analysis, known as bivariate scaling (Thompson and McGarigal 2002), to identify the scale at which each independent variable is most strongly related to marten occurrence. Each variable was subjected to a univariate test of significance at each scale (PROC NPAR1 WAY Wilcoxon; SAS Institute 1999-2000), following Hosmer and Lemeshow (2000). Only variables that had a significant Wilcoxon Rank Sum Score (p < 0.05) at at least one scale were retained for the logistic regression modeling. When more than one scale was significant, I selected the scale with the smallest p-value. All other scales of each variable were excluded from further analysis. Next, I eliminated one of each pair of variables with a Pearson's correlation >0.5.

I then evaluated the performance of each variable across all possible models that can be constructed from the pool of remaining independent variables. This entailed evaluating all models that resulted from a factorial combination of all variables that were significant in the bivariate scaling using PROC LOGISTIC (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). This all-models approach is intended not as a model selection step but rather as an additional variable screening step. Importantly, the all models approach provides
valuable information about the strength of relationship between each variable and marten occupancy through two related metrics: universality and consistency (Copeland et al. 2007). Universality is the proportion of models in which each variable was significant (p<0.25, Hosmer and Lemeshow 2000:95), whereas consistency is the proportion of models in which the slope coefficient had the same sign. A perfectly universal and consistent variable would be significant in all models in which it occurred and would not change sign (Copeland et al. 2007). A variable that has a high degree of universality and consistently predicts presence or non-detection of martens is a strong predictor of marten occurrence.

Variables that passed the universality and consistency test (Table 9) were then used to develop an a priori set of candidate models for further evaluation (Table 10). Explanatory variables in the multiple-scale analysis included structural, compositional, topographic, and landscape pattern characteristics. Seral stage variables PLand of large sawtimber, seedling/sapling, pole sawtimber, and non-stocked areas were universal and consistent predictors of American marten occurrence, and also provided a description of the stage of stand development and corresponding level of structural diversity found to be significant for martens at multiple scales. Landscape level metrics CWED and Contagion were chosen to describe landscape patterns. CWED is an index of fragmentation and was chosen to evaluate the degree to which the landscape is dissected by high contrast edges. Contagion provided an index of aggregation at the landscape level and describes the degree of clumping of the landscape into large homogeneous patches. Large continuous patches of mature forest have been shown to be important for marten habitat selection

(Chapin et al. 1998), and I hypothesized that large homogeneous patches of mature forest would be important for American martens in the IPNF.

Model Selection and Analysis

In this analysis, I compared sets of candidate models at the plot level (90 m), home range scale (630 m), and multiple scale models containing universal and consistent variables. This comparison is intended to evaluate alternative scaling approaches to modeling marten habitat selection. For each set of models, I conducted model selection, analysis, and multi-model inference using information theoretic methods (Burnham and Anderson 2002). These methods identify the optimal balance between model parsimony and accuracy of fit and facilitates simultaneous evaluation of multiple hypotheses. Information-theoretic methods allow direct comparisons of the relative importance of several mechanisms that may affect marten presence in this study landscape as well as facilitate multi-model inference, which can be applied to predict marten presence using models for all mechanisms considered in proportion to their relative importance (Burnham and Anderson 2002).

I ranked each set of models separately using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC). AIC is an equation that estimates Kullback-Liebler information, an equation describing the information lost when a model is used to approximate truth (Burnham and Anderson 1998). AIC has two components, one that assesses lack of fit and a second that penalizes for each additional parameter by increasing the AIC value. Therefore, when comparing a set of candidate models, models with the lowest AIC values provide the strongest inference given the data and the set of a priori models (Anderson et al. 2000). I

used the Akaike's information criterion for small sample sizes, AICc, recommended for use when the sample size divided the total number of parameters is <40 (Burnham and Anderson 1998). Models were interpreted by the comparison of ΔAIC_c values, where $\Delta AIC_c = AIC_c - minimum AIC_c$

Using ΔAIC_c (Δi) values provides a measure of strength of evidence and a scaled ranking for candidate models (Anderson et al. 2000). Models with $\Delta AIC_c < 2$ are strongly supported and should be considered when making inferences about the data. Models with ΔAIC_c values between 2 and 7 have less support, and those with $\Delta AIC_c > 10$ have little or no support (Burnham and Anderson 1998). To further interpret the relative importance of a model, Akaike's weights (w_i) are used. ΔAIC_c values are used to compute w_i , which is considered the weight of evidence in favor of a model being the best approximating model given the model set (Burnham and Anderson 2002). Unless the model with the lowest AIC_c value has a w_i of >0.9, then other models should be considered when drawing inferences about the data (Burnham and Anderson 1998).

In order to compare the results of the stand, home range and multi-scale analyses, I calculated the classification accuracy for the top-ranked model from each of the three analyses. To do so, I randomly split the dataset for each analysis in half to generate model building and testing subsets. I then generated new model coefficients using the model building subset. I then determined the cutpoint (e.g., predicted probability of presence) that maximized the classification accuracy for both the presence and nondetection sites. Using the same model coefficients and cutpoint, I then determined the classification accuracy for the model testing subsets. This approach provides an unbiased and easily interpreted estimate of the predictive power of the models produced by each of

the three analyses. This approach is similar to calculating the area under the Receiver Operator Curve (Pearce and Ferrier 2000).

RESULTS

Survey Results

Over the three winter seasons of 2004, 2005, and 2006, I surveyed a total of 569 locations. *Martes americana* were detected at 152 individual snare locations and *Martes pennanti* were detected at 19 individual stations. For habitat modeling, only data from the winters of 2005 and 2006 were included due to differences in sample procedures between the winter of 2004 and the winters of 2005 and 2006. Over the winter seasons of 2005 and 2006, 287 locations were surveyed

Genetic Results

Using diagnostic restriction enzyme patterns on a region of cytochrome b, *Martes americana* were detected at 110 individual hair snare stations.

Habitat Models

I used a logistic regression framework to investigate the relationships between American marten presence and a suite of habitat variables that were identified *a priori* on the basis of previous research. My primary goal was to model habitat use for American marten in northern Idaho.

Plot Level Analysis

At the plot level (90 m), based on the Δ AIC (Δi) values for AIC and the Akaike weights (w_i), there were four top models that stand out as the best of the candidate set containing 16 models (Table 6). Models 1, 2, 3, and 4 contained variables that were

significant indicators of marten habitat selection. The top model is Model 1 (AIC= 366.48, $\Delta i=0.00$, $w_i=0.259$), and contained seral stage variables Large Sawtimber and Seedling/Sapling. Models 2 (Δi =0.019, w_i =0.236), 3 (Δi =0.32, w_i =0.221), and 4 $(\Delta i=0.67, w_i=0.185)$ were within an $\Delta AIC < 2$ (Table 6). Model 1 is only 1.09 times more likely than model 2 (evidence ratio = $w_1/w_2 = 0.259/0.236$) to be the best given the data and candidate model set, is 1.17 times more likely to be the best compared to thirdranked model 3 (evidence ratio = 0.259/0.221) and 1.4 times more likely to be the best fourth-ranked model 4 (evidence ratio = 0.259/0.185). However, If I compare the top model to the model that is ranked 6th, I find that model 1 is 212.12 more times likely to be the best (evidence ratio = 0.259/0.00122) than model 6. The evidence ratios imply that while models 1,2,3,and 4 clearly are superior to the other models considered, there is uncertainty about which of models 1,2,3,or 4 is best. The remaining models are unlikely to be the best model as indicated by their Δi values ($\Delta i > 7$). In the top ranking Model 1 the seral stage variable PLand of Seedling/Sapling was the most significant contributor (p=0.00094), and has a negative coefficient, indicating a negative influence on marten presence in this study landscape (Table 12). PLand of Seedling/Sapling is consistently a negative indicator of marten presence and is present in all four of the top ranked models. The top 4 models included parameters with coefficients that are not significantly different from zero, indicating that these variables are not significant contributors to marten habitat selection at this particular scale in this study area. The classification accuracy for the top ranked Model 1 was determined to be 73%.

Home Range Analysis

In the home range analysis at 630 m, the global model, Model 1 (AIC=367.02) stood out as the best model out of all candidate models based on $\Delta AIC (\Delta i)$ values for AIC and the Akaike weights (w_i) . The global model was the top ranked model out of 23 possible candidate models and there are no other models within a $\Delta AIC \le 2$ (Table 7). Model 1 ($\Delta i=0.00, w_i=0.881$) is 21.86 times more likely to be the best model than model 2 (evidence ratio = w_1/w_2 = 0.881/0.0403), and 31.17 times more likely to be the best model than model 3 (evidence ratio = $w_1/w_3 = 0.881/0.02826$). This is strong evidence that the top ranked global model is the best model out of the candidate set. The remaining twenty models are unlikely to be the best models as indicated by their Δi values ($\Delta i > 7$). In the top ranked global model MI (p=0.00311) was the most highly significant variable, followed by CWED (p=0.00738) and PLand NS (p=0.04539), and all had negative coefficients, indicating a negative influence on marten presence (Table 13). The top model included seven parameters with coefficients that are not significantly different from zero, indicating that these variables are not significant contributors to marten habitat selection at this particular scale in this study area. The classification accuracy for the top ranked global Model 1 was determined to be 70%.

Multiple-scale Analysis

A) Scaling

Bivariate scaling revealed that PLand of Large sawtimber was highly significant at scales 90 m, 180 m, 270 m (Figure 3). PLand of Small sawtimber (Figure 4) and Nonforest (Figure 5) was non-significant to marten presence in the landscape at any scales and therefore, these variables were not considered for inclusion in candidate models (Table 10). PLand of Seedling/Sapling was significant at 180 m, 270 m, and 990 m (Figure 6). Interestingly, PLand of Pole timber was significant at 90 m and 180 m and then became non-significant as scales increased (Figure 7). PLand of Non-stocked (Figure 8) timber stands is a highly significant negative predictor of marten presence at all scales. Results of scaling and metrics are shown in Table 8.

Landscape metrics including Area Weighted Mean Patch Size (AREA_AM), Contrast Weighted Edge Density (CWED), and Contagion were calculated. AREA_AM was a significant predictor of marten presence at 180 m and 270 m (Figure 9). CWED was significant at all scales, and became increasingly significant as scale increased (Figure 10). Contagion was significant across all scales and became increasingly significant as scale increased (Figure 11). Variables extracted from the DEM and used in bivariate scaling were moisture index and elevation. Moisture index was significant at scales above 540 m, and became increasingly more significant as scale increased (Figure 12). Elevation was significant at the 90 m scale only (Figure 13). The All Roads variable was not significant at any scale and it was therefore dropped from further consideration (Table 8). In each of the 12 variables, I used the scale with the lowest Pvalue.

B) Universality and Consistency

All possible factorial combinations of 12 independent variables produced 2,048 logistic regression models. As each variable could only be present in one-half of the possible models, the analysis of individual variable performance was based on 1,024

models. Recall that Universality is the proportion of models in which each variable was significant (p<0.25, Hosmer and Lemeshow 2000:95), whereas Consistency is the proportion of models in which the slope coefficient had the same sign. A final list of predictor variables from bivariate scaling output and univariate tests of significance used in logistic regression modeling is shown in Table 3.

From all the models that were evaluated, there were seven variables that were highly universal and consistent and therefore strongly associated with marten presence (Table 9). These variables are Moisture Index at 900 m, PLand Nonstocked timber at 810 m, PLand Seedling/Sapling at 990 m, CWED at 630 m, PLand Large Sawtimber at 90 m, PLand Pole timber at 90 m, and Contagion at 630 m. Moisture Index and Non-stocked timbered areas were the best variables for distinguishing marten habitat selection. Both these variables were 100% universal and 100% consistently strong negative indicators of marten presence across all logistic regression models (Table 9). American marten negatively responded to Moisture Index at 900 m from sample points (negative coefficient 100% of the time) and Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Non-stocked timber stands at 810 m (negative coefficient 100% of the time) were significant (p < 0.25) in all models. Percentage of Landscape of Seedling/Sapling timber class at 990 m was negatively correlated with marten presence (negative coefficient, p<0.25 94% of the time), and CWED at 630 m was also negatively correlated with marten presence (negative coefficient, p<0.25 98% of the time). Contagion at 630 m was 79% universal (p<0.25 79% of the time) and was 100% consistent. Out of 1,024 models, Contagion 630 m was negative in 1,017 models and positive in the remaining 7 models.

Percentage of Landscape of Large Sawtimber and Pole timber were strong positive indicators of marten presence. PLand of Large Sawtimber at 90 m from the sample point was positively correlated with marten presence (positive coefficient, p<0.25 91% of the time), as well as PLand of Pole timber at 90 m from the plot (positive coefficient, p<0.25 96% of the time). All variables were 100% consistent except for Contagion, which was 99.32% consistent. A perfectly consistent and universal variable would be significant in all models in which it occurred and would not change sign.

C) Candidate Models from Universal and Consistent Variables

From the seven universal and consistent variables, six candidate models were produced (Table 10). Based on Δ AIC (Δi) values for AIC and the Akaike weights (wi), there was one top model that stands out as the best of the candidate set. The top ranked model is Model 1 (AIC=359.33), the global model containing the top universal and consistent variables (Δi =0.00, wi=0.951) (Table 11). This model is 29.08 times more likely than the second ranked model 2 (Δi =6.74, wi=0.0327) to be the best model. The remaining five models are unlikely to be the best models as indicated by their Δi values (Δi >7). In the global model, MI at 900 m (p=0.01004), CWED at 630 m (p=0.0028), and Contagion at 630 m (p=0.01002) all have significantly negative coefficients, while PLand Large Sawtimber (p=0.02081) has a significantly positive coefficient (Table 14). It should be noted that the top model included three parameters with coefficients that are not significantly different from zero. PLand of Seed/Sap (p=0.06368), PLand NS (P = 0.1942) have non-significant negative coefficients. PLand pole (p = 0.07215) has a nonsignificant positive coefficient. The classification accuracy for the top ranked global Model 1 was determined to be 76%.

DISCUSSION

Scaling

A fundamental concept in animal ecology is that each species occurs within a limited range of environmental conditions, defining its habitat niche (Hutchinson 1957). In the past, most attention has focused on identifying the most important habitat variables. However, in the past several decades it has become evident that identifying the operative scale for these variables is equally important, to the extent that scaling has been proposed as a central question in ecology (Levin 1992). Identifying the proper variables, but at an incorrect scale may lead to weak or incorrect apparent relationships (Wiens 1989). In this analysis, I focused explicitly on evaluating the relationships between marten occupancy and several potentially important environmental variables across a range of spatial scales.

Bivariate scaling (Thompson and McGarigal 2002) has been shown to be a highly effective method for identifying the appropriate scale in species-environment relationships modeling. By evaluating the strength of relationship between each environmental variable and marten occupancy across a range of spatial scales provides a clear indication of the scale at which each variable influences this species. The results of the bivariate scaling showed strong differences among variables in the scales at which they operate, and also show very large differences in the apparent strength of the relationship within each variable. For example, these results indicate that at the finer scale of selecting habitat within home ranges, martens actively select late-seral microhabitat conditions and strongly avoided early-seral open canopy locations. At the home range scale, martens select home ranges that avoided landscapes that contain large

areas of early-seral open canopy conditions and are highly fragmented by high contrast edges. Interestingly, this implies avoidance of non-suitable habitat rather than selection for suitable habitat. At multiple scales, martens avoid landscape with large areas of early-seral open canopy that are fragmented by high contrast edges and select for within home range foraging habitat of mid and late-seral forest types.

In this study, I compared three different models utilizing different scales of habitat relationships: Plot level (90 m), home range (630 m), and across multiple scales using bivariate scaling of habitat variables. This provides an explicit framework to consider multiple scale habitat selection in this species. Since animals hierarchically select habitats, it is essential to measure variables across a variety of spatial scales in order to reveal the true grain at which the animal responds within the landscape (Kotliar and Wiens 1990). The scale at which the animal interacts with the environment and responds to levels of fragmentation and habitat patterns will strongly predict species presence and persistence in the landscape. Importantly, the environmental variables of importance and grain of response for some processes, such as establishing home ranges, may differ greatly from the variables and scales of importance for other processes, such as habitat selection for foraging within home ranges. The three modeling efforts across several spatial scales provide an interesting insight into this multiple-scale process of habitat selection for *Martes americana*.

Plot Level Analysis

The top model is Model 1 ($\Delta i=0.00$, $w_i=0.259$), and contained seral stage variables Large Sawtimber and Seedling/Sapling (Table 6). Looking at the significance

of each variable I find that PLand of Seedling/Sapling is the most highly significant variable negatively contributing to marten presence (Table 12), and in fact is the only highly significant variable in all top four models. This result is rather surprising given that the bivariate scaling results indicated that PLand Seedling/Sapling is not significantly different at this scale (Figure 6). Thus, PLand of Seedling/Sapling is a strong negative indicator of marten presence, since it is an indicator of open canopy within the landscape. Preferred prey species such as red-backed voles (*Clethrionomys gapperi*) and red squirrels (*Tamaisciurus ruficanus*) are not classically associated with open canopies and are unlikely to be found in open canopy stands. While PLand of Non-stocked timber stands was significant at all scales in the bivariate scaling output (Table 8), Non-stocked was a vegetation class that did not occur in any marten presence sites in my study area, and only occurred in absence sites. Due to this fact, this variable was not included at the plot level (90 m) analysis.

Home Range Analysis

In the home range analysis, the global model containing all 10 variables was clearly the most significant model based on Δ AIC (Δi) values for AIC and the Akaike weights (w_i). In this global model, CWED was the most highly significant variable (p=0.00738), followed by MI (p=0.00311) and PLand NS (p=0.04539). Once again, PLand of Non-stocked timber is an indicator of open canopy. Each of these significant variables had negative coefficients, indicating a strong negative relationship to marten presence, and avoidance by martens of Non-stocked open canopy areas (Table 13). Tomson (1999) documented that martens preferred mature timber stands with average

DBH > 22.9cm, and showed a significant preference for mature timber classes over seedling/sapling classes within his nearby study area encompassing an area within the Cabinet mountain range of northern Idaho. This is consistent with my findings within my study landscape. Mature stands in this landscape are likely providing preferred prey species, as well as access to structures that provide thermal shelter and protection from predators.

Contagion and CWED were more highly significant at the home range scale (630 m) than all other scales that were tested using bivariate scaling. CWED at 630 m was the most significant variable in the top ranked global model, indicating that at the home range scale, martens respond negatively to stands of mature timber juxtaposed next to open canopy areas of non-stocked timber and avoid open canopy areas. These human induced edges create fragmented landscapes that may hinder movement of American martens and create inhospitable habitat. Martens with home ranges in fragmented habitats are more likely to risk predation while traveling through an area lacking escape structures that are frequently found in un-fragmented areas composed of mature forest.

Multiple-scale Analysis

The multi-scale analysis shows that marten presence is positively correlated with the Percentage of the Landscape (PLand) composed of large sawtimber interspersed with stands of pole timber. These variables had positive coefficients at the 90 m scale and focus on the high quality habitat. This suggests that marten actively select habitat based on fine-scale features. This also indicates that late-seral stands are an important component for marten habitat use in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest and this is

consistent with results from previous marten habitat studies (Buskirk and Powell 1994; Campbell 1979; Slauson 2003; Soutiere 1979; Stevenson and Major 1982; Wilbert 1992). All of the other variables considered in this analysis have negative coefficients and are at the landscape scale (> 630 m), implying that the negative influences on habitat selection operate at a very different scale than the positive influences on habitat selection. Nonstocked forest stands and young seedling/sapling forest stands were strongly avoided by martens and were negative predictors of marten presence. Thus, a sample site located in a small stand of large sawtimber will not be used by marten if it is embedded within a landscape dominated by fragmented patches.

Interestingly, my results predicted that martens have a negative relationship with Moisture Index, indicating that they occur relatively more commonly on convex upland mountain slopes than in the moist valley riparian areas. This is contrary to many previous studies which typically report martens to be most abundant in highly productive riparian areas. This unexpected result has several potential interpretations. First, the result may be somewhat misleading due to the fact that the areas with the highest moisture index in my study are low elevation areas around Priest Lake that are also highly cut-over forests. Martens were found at only a few plots in this area. This may be due to the effect of forest management in these areas rather than moisture index. Most riparian zones in this study area are narrow with steep slopes rising above. Moisture index would be high only along the very bottom of these narrow riparian zones, and would be quite low even in nearby locations upslope. Thus, martens could actively select for riparian zones, but as the hair snares were set on adjacent uplands with relatively low moisture index, the result could be a spurious negative relationship. This absence of martens in the highest

moisture index areas could lead to a spurious negative overall relationship with moisture index in the logistic regression models. The second alternative is that martens, contrary to prevailing expectation, actually are less abundant in the largest riparian zones than on more convex upland slopes. This unexpected result would be interesting. Thirdly, competition with fisher (*Martes pennanti*) and other predators who strongly select habitats in riparian areas could exclude martens from utilizing more mesic sites. However, my impression from observing rates of detection and abundance of tracks in upland and riparian zones is that there didn't seem to be any pattern of more abundance on uplands than in riparian areas. Thus, I am unable to satisfactorily account for this unexpected result with respect to moisture index.

Contrast weighted edge density (CWED) was significant across all scales and most significant at 630 m (Table 8). High edge contrast, such as resulting from extensive juxtaposition of preferred stands of mature timber with seedling/sapling and non-forest, is negatively associated with marten presence; marten avoid landscapes with large amounts of high contrast edges. Fragmentation of habitat (e.g., reduction in patch size, increased isolation of patches, and increased levels of stand edge) is thought to play a major role in marten habitat use (Buskirk and Powell 1994). Additionally, Buskirk and Powell (1994) proposed that the type of habitat associated with both sides of the edge may be more important than the edge itself. For example, a patch of young forest configured next to a late-seral forest would be more likely to be used than the same patch of young forest adjacent to areas of non-forest, non-stocked patches, or a recent clear-cut.

Contagion is the degree of clumping of the landscape into large homogeneous patches and measures fragmentation based on cell size distribution. Contagion was

significant at all scales (Table 8), as well as in the top ranked global model 1 at 630 m (Tables 11 & 14). A homogeneous landscape composed of patches of mature large sawtimber is an important component of marten habitat selection, as patch configuration is important to martens. A landscape where like patch types are highly clumped together significantly predicts marten presence in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest. Studies in Maine have found that the patch size used by martens (2.7 ha) was significantly larger than unused patches (1.5 ha) (Chapin et al. 1998). Used patches were significantly closer to a patch greater than 2.7 ha than were unused patches. A significant relationship was also found between used patches and the distance to the nearest forest preserve. Chapin et al. (1998) concluded that patch area was the single most important factor that affected habitat use by marten in their study area.

Comparing all 3 sets of models

Characterizing the landscape surrounding each point at multiple scales enabled me to select the appropriate scale(s) at which each aspect of landscape composition was most significant for *Martes americana*. At the plot level (90 m) stands containing seedling/sapling vegetation type were highly avoided by martens. At the home range scale, seral stage, and fragmentation of the landscape were the best predictors of marten presence. CWED and Non-stocked areas were important negative predictors of marten habitat selection in this landscape. Martens negatively responded to a high amount of edge contrast in this landscape. When stands of preferred habitat of larger and older forest are adjacent to non-stocked timber stands, this fragments the landscape and makes it inhospitable marten habitat.

Using bivariate scaling analysis of universal and consistent variables in the multiple-scale approach, the strongest and most informative model was model 1, the global model (AIC = 359.33). This model was also more highly supported than any of the candidate models at the plot level (90 m) and home range (630 m) level, and consequently also had the highest classification accuracy. This shows the superiority of the multi-scale approach to the plot and the home-range models. In this multi-scale model, four out of seven variables included in the model have coefficients that were significantly different from zero; two were nearly significant (PLand Seedling/Sapling p=0.06, and PLand Pole timber p=0.07), and only one variable was not significantly different from zero (PLand Non-stocked timber p=0.19) (Table 14). This is in stark contrast to the best models produced by the plot level and home range analyses. For both the plot and home range scale models, most of the variables had coefficients that were not significantly different from zero. This suggests that these models are less reliable than the multiple-scale model. This is support for using bivariate scaling and statistics to find universal and consistent variables out of a set of a priori hypothesized variables to include in habitat modeling of this species.

Martes americana in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest are selecting habitats that fulfill their life history needs. Preferred prey species such as red-backed voles (*Clethrionomys gapperi*) and red squirrels (*Tamaisciurus ruficanus*) are closely associated with late-seral mature timber stands and are important determinants of marten habitat selection. Tomson (1999) found that forested stands had significantly higher densities of small mammals than non-forested stands in his study area of the Cabinet Mountains in northern Idaho. He also documented that predation rates on martens were

much higher in fragmented regions of the study area and that martens avoided open canopies to avoid predators.

Although elevation was not a highly significant variable in the top habitat models for American martens in the IPNF, it is an interesting variable to examine as it influences vegetation gradients within the landscape. It should be noted that there were few snares set below 800 m due to unsuitable habitat types present at elevations below this cutoff point. Mean elevation for marten presence was 1268.736m. If martens are significantly more abundant at middle elevations this could lead to a non-significance of elevation in the logistic model, which included elevation as a linear gradient.

I hypothesize that martens in the IPNF are responding to both vegetation types and snow depth found at medium and high elevations. Both vegetation type and snow depth will influence available prey and hunting conditions for martens, as well as trees available for resting and coarse woody debris structure. The dominant forest types found at middle elevations are middle montane mesic types composed of engelman spruce (*Picea engelmannii*), subalpine fir (*Abies lasiocarpa*), grand fir (*Abies grandis*), and western red cedar (*Thuja plicata*) on north aspects, and larch (*Larix occidentalis*), douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), white pine (*Pinus monticola*), and some cedar (*Thuja plicata*) found on southerly aspects. In the higher elevational band, forest type is dominated by subalpine fir (*Abies lasiocarpa*), engelman spruce (*Picea engelmannii*), and western hemlock (*Tsuga heterophylla*). Trees available at higher elevations are inherently smaller in DBH due to harsh growing conditions (e.g. high snow level, strong winds, short growing season etc.) typically found in the subalpine zone.

CONCLUSION

Bivariate scaling coupled with an assessment of universal and consistent variables was very useful in identifying the appropriate scale at which martens respond to habitat heterogeneity in this study area. The strength of this approach is its ability to evaluate the universality and consistency of variable importance across scales in multiple models. This gives a strong indication of the strength of the variables and nature of the influence (positive or negative). A variable that contributed significantly and with a consistent sign would be considered a strong factor predicting marten presence. In this study, evaluating marten habitat relationships across multiple scales was extremely valuable in describing selection of fine scale habitat variables versus coarse scale variables that compose optimal habitat for American marten. The scale of each variable at which martens responded most strongly was important and differed greatly across scales and predictor variables. The scale at which martens are selecting for high quality habitat elements varied greatly from the scale in which they avoided negative elements.

American marten in this study area of the Idaho Panhandle National Forest are selecting stands composed of areas of large sawtimber interspersed with pole timber, and avoiding landscapes with high Contrast Weighted Edge Density (CWED) among cover types and large areas of seedling/saplings or non-stocked areas (e.g. areas that have been harvested but are not regenerating). Pole timber becomes non-significant at scales above 180 m. Pole timber is the most widely spread seral stage found in the Purcell and Cabinet mountain ranges surveyed in my study landscape, and is proportionately more available than mature large sawtimber stands. It is possible that habitat quality in my study area is exceptional and very productive so that martens may fulfill their life history needs with

stands of large sawtimber perforated with pole timber. Previous studies in this region have shown that martens use both mature and intermediate (small sawtimber and pole timber) DBH size classes to satisfy all life history requirements because a home range likely encompasses an area that contains these classes (Tomson 1999). This is consistent with my findings in my study landscape. Martens are selecting areas associated with older, coniferous stands with complex physical structure that provides protection from predators, access to prey, and protective thermal microenvironments important for winter survival. Martens are avoiding openings such as clearcuts, non-stocked areas, seedling/sapling stands, and meadows, especially during winter (Koehler and Hornocker 1977; Soutiere 1979; Simon 1980; Tomson 1999). Martens may use some of these openings in the summer if they provide adequate cover and food.

Martens had a strong negative response to patches of seedling/sapling timber at the landscape scale (990 m). Landscapes and patches characterized by non-stocked timber were also strong negative predictors of marten presence across all scales and in the top ranked model 1 (Table 11). From this model, I can infer that martens in this study area in northern Idaho prefer stands of Large sawtimber interspersed with of pole timber at the plot level (90 m), and strongly avoid areas of Non-stocked timber stands (810 m) and areas of Seedling/sapling (990 m) at the landscape scale. A landscape comprised of homogeneous patches of large sawtimber that is aggregated and not fragmented by patches of open canopy appears to be the optimal landscape-level habitat condition in my study area in northern Idaho. Juxtaposing patches of large sawtimber with high contrast cover types such as seedling/sapling or non-forest areas reduces habitat quality, as martens strongly avoid these open canopy areas and the edges created by this

juxtaposition substantially reduces the probability of marten detection. Spatial arrangement of preferred habitat is important.

Habitat fragmentation is considered an important process affecting species persistence and predicting species decline (Fahrig 1997). Habitat fragmentation in addition to habitat loss has been shown to have a greater impact on a species than that predicted strictly by habitat loss alone (Fahrig 2002; Pulliam et al. 1992; Saunders et al. 1991). Conservation approaches must consider not only the preservation of sufficient habitat, but also the spatial arrangement of habitat patches across the landscape (Lamberson et al. 1994; Pulliam et al 1992). This study shows that fragmentation of habitat patches can have a dramatic effect on marten presence in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest. Fragmentation of forests in the IPNF create large amount of edge habitat that in turn reduces interior core habitat important for habitat specialized oldgrowth associated species such as American marten (Andren 1994; Hargis et al. 1999; Thomas et al. 1990). American marten are particularly susceptible to timber harvesting which removes canopy cover, reduces coarse woody debris (CWD), changes mesic sites into xeric sites, removes riparian dispersal zones, and changes prey communities (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). Short-term effects of intensive logging include avoidance of clear-cuts and areas with little canopy cover, increased rates of trapping as overhead cover is removed, and higher predation rates. Long-term effects include loss of habitat and fragmentation that results in isolated populations that may eventually become extirpated (Thompson and Harestad 1994). A study by Hargis et al. (1999) in Utah found that martens respond to small amounts of forest fragmentation. A low level of fragmentation was defined as a habitat where forest cover was still the primary landscape

component, percent cover ranged from 2% to 42%, and forest connectivity was maintained. Martens rarely used sites where more than 25% of an area was removed. No martens were captured in areas where there was less than 100 m between open areas, again underscoring the fact that highly contrasted edges and areas of open canopy are highly avoided by American marten.

Management Implications

Martes americana in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest prefer late-seral mature stands for resting and denning, as well as capturing preferred prey species that are associated with mature late-successional stands, such as red-backed voles (*Clethrionomys* gapperi) and red squirrels (*Tamaisciurus ruficanus*). These stands should not be perforated with patches of seedling/sapling or non-stocked areas, as martens highly avoid these areas, consistent with the findings of Hargis et al. (1999) for temperate forests in Utah as well as Tomson (1999) in northern Idaho. Marten appear to actively avoid landscapes with relatively high areas of seedling/sapling and nonstocked conditions at the home range scale. Therefore, optimal marten habitat would consist of landscapes dominated by mature forest, with relatively low areas of seedling/sapling and nonstocked stands, and low overall contrast weighted edge density. Stands should be configured in a homogenous pattern rather than a patch mosaic, as martens negatively respond to high contrast edges and disaggregated patch types. Maintaining connectivity between patches of favorable habitat is important to the persistence of marten populations. Increasing fragmentation reduces habitat connectivity, decreases dispersal success (Doak et al. 1992; King and With 2002), initiates genetic isolation (Gerlach and

Musolf 2000; Gibbs 2001; Young and Clarke 2001), and increases extinction vulnerability (Adler and Nuernberger 1994; Fahrig and Merriam 1985; Kareiva and Wennergren 1995; Lamberson et al. 1994). Harvest pattern in the IPNF has resulted in relatively high levels of fragmentation for much of the remaining late-seral forests. Timber harvest activity should leave large diameter snags as well as other coarse woody debris in place. Structural complexity at the ground created by snags and other downed woody debris is important for martens for a variety of reasons, including resting, denning, and hunting. My results suggest that additional harvest of old-growth and mature forest in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest will reduce marten habitat, and consequently marten populations, by both reducing the preferred habitat (mature and old-growth forest) and increasing avoided habitats (seedling/sapling, nonstocked, and high contrast landscapes).

CHAPTER 1: TABLES

Table 1: Vegetation and timber classification on both state and federal lands in the Idaho Panhandle Nat'l Forest. Seral stage is presented with Diameter at Breast Height (DBH).

Seral Stage based on Diameter at Breast Height (DBH)

<u>Class</u>	Description
1. Large Sawtimber	Dominant and codominant trees with DBH > 16 in
2. Small Sawtimber	Dominant and codominant tress with DBH 8-16 in
3. Pole Timber	Dominant and codominant trees with DBH 3-7.9 in
4. Seedling/Sapling	Crop trees< 4.5 ft and < 3 in DBH (open canopy)
5. Non-stocked	Forest land less than 10% stocked with growing
	stock trees
6. Non-forest	Non-forested areas

Table 2: Contrast Weighted Edge Density file used in FRAGSTATS for weighting	•
Weights are the dissimilarity between patch types and are scaled 0-1.	

<u>Class</u>		<u>Weight</u>					
		1	2	3	4	5	6
Large Sawtimber	1	0					
Small Sawtimber	2	0.2	0				
Pole timber	3	0.4	0.2	0			
Seedling/Sapling	4	0.6	0.4	0.2	0		
Non-stocked	5	0.8	0.6	0.4	0.2	0	
Non-forest	6	1	0.8	0.6	0.4	0.2	0

<u>Variable</u>	<u>90 m</u>	<u>630 m</u>	<u>Multi-scale</u>	Description
1) Moisture Index		X	X	•Moisture Index
2) All Roads	X	Х	X	•All maintained and unmaintained FS & County roads plus decommissioned, grown over & un-drivable roads that may still provide movement corridors for animals.
3) Elevation	X	X	X	•Elevation at X scale from sample point
4) Contagion			X	•An index of aggregation or clumping at the landscape level
5) CWED	X	X	X	•Contrast Weighted Edge Density
6) AREA_AM			X	•Area Weighted Mean Patch Size
7) Percentage of Landscape Large Sawtimber	e X	X	X	•Percentage of landscape comprised of Large Sawtimber (>16 in)
8) Percentage of Landscape Small Sawtimber	e	X	X	•Percentage of landscape comprised of Small Sawtimber (8-16 in)
9) Percentage of Landscap of Seedling/Sapling	e X g	X	X	•Percentage of landscape comprised of Seedling/Sapling (< 4.5 ft and < 3 in DBH)
10) Percentage of Landsca of Pole timber type	pe	X	X	•Percentage of landscape comprised of Pole timber (3-7.9 in)

Table 3: List of predictor variables used in candidate models for the Plot level (90 m), Home Range level (630 m) and Multi-scale analyses. A description of each variable is provided. **X's** Denote variable was used in the analysis at that particular scale.

11) Percentage of Landscape of Non-stocked areas	X	Х	•Percentage of landscape comprised of Non-stocked areas (Areas stocked below minimum levels needed to meet FPA requirements
12) Percentage of Landscape of Non-forest	X	X	•Percentage of landscape comprised of Non-forest areas

Table 4: Set of candidate models at the Plot level (90 m). K is number of parameters. Variables were selected for model inclusion was based on univariate analysis. A total of 16 models were tested.

Model #	<u>K</u>	<u>Model</u>
1	2	LG + SS
2	3	Elev + LG + SS
3	1	SS
4	2	ELEV + SS
5	5	Global
6	2	Elev + LG
7	3	Elev + LG + CWED
8	1	LG
9	3	Elev + LG + AR
10	2	LG + CWED
11	3	LG + AR + CWED
12	2	LG + AR
13	1	Elev
14	2	Elev + AR
15	2	Elev + CWED
16	3	Elev + AR + CWED

Elev = Elevation at 90m, LG =PLand of Large Sawtimber at 90m, SS = PLand Seedling/sapling timber at 90m, CWED = Contrast Weighted Edge Density 90m, AR = All Roads 90m.

Table 5: Set of candidate models at the Home Range level (630 m). K is number of
parameters. Variables were selected for model inclusion was based on univariate
analysis. There were 23 total models tested.

Model #	<u>K</u>	Model
1	10	Global
2	1	MI
3	2	MI+SS
4	2	MI+LG
5	2	MI+Elev
6	3	SS + NS + NF
7	2	Elev + CWED
8	3	Elev + LG + CWED
9	6	LG+SM+Pole+SS+NS+NF
10	2	LG + CWED
11	3	Elev + AR + CWED
12	3	Elev + SS
13	1	Elev
14	1	SS
15	2	Elev + AR
16	2	Elev + LG
17	3	Elev + LG + SS
18	3	LG + AR + CWED
19	2	LG + SS
20	3	Elev + LG + AR
21	1	LG
22	2	LG + SM
23	2	LG + AR

Elev = Elevation at 630 m, MI= Moisture Index 630m, CWED= Contrast Weighted Edge Density at 630m, AR = All Roads, LG = PLand of Large Sawtimber at 630m, SM = PLand of Small Sawtimber at 630m, SS= PLand of Seedling/sapling timber at 630m, Pole= PLand of Pole timber at 630m, NS = PLand of Nonstocked timber at 630m, NF = PLand of Non-forest at 630m.

(p. 0.05).					
Model #	<u>K</u>	Variables	<u>AIC</u>	<u>Δ ΑΙC</u>	<u><u><u>w</u></u>i</u>
1	2	LG + SS	366.48	0	0.259784
2	3	Elev + LG + SS	366.67	0.19	0.23624
3	1	SS	366.80	0.32	0.221373
4	2	ELEV + SS	367.15	0.67	0.185833
5	5	Global	368.56	2.08	0.091822
6	2	Elev + LG	377.20	10.72	0.001221
7	3	Elev + LG + CWED	377.32	10.84	0.00115
8	1	LG	378.55	12.07	0.000622
9	3	Elev + LG + AR	378.72	12.24	0.000571
10	2	LG + CWED	378.78	12.3	0.000554
11	3	LG + AR + CWED	379.14	12.66	0.000463
12	2	LG + AR	379.61	13.13	0.000366
13	1	Elev	381.77	15.29	0.000319
14	2	Elev + AR	383.72	17.24	0.000299
15	2	Elev + CWED	382.28	15.8	0.000287
16	3	Elev + AR + CWED	384.06	17.58	0.000242

Table 6: Candidate models at the plot level (90 m) sorted by AIC. AIC, Δ AIC, and AIC weights (w_i) are shown. K is number of parameters. Top models with AIC<2 are highlighted. Models below the dashed line represent models that were not significant (p<0.05).

Elev = Elevation at 90m, LG =PLand of Large Sawtimber at 90m, SS = PLand Seedling/sapling timber at 90m, CWED = Contrast Weighted Edge Density 90m, AR = All Roads 90m.

Table 7: Candidate models at the Home Range scale (630 m). AIC, Δ AIC, and AIC weights (w_i) are shown. K is number of parameters. Top model with AIC<2 is highlighted. Models below the dashed line represent models that were not significant (p<0.05).

<u>Model #</u> 1	<u>K</u> 10	<u>Model</u> Global	<u>AIC</u> 367.02	<u>Δ AIC</u> 0	<u>wi</u> 0.881432
2	1	MI	373 19	617	0.040308
3	2	MI+SS	373.90	6.88	0.028263
4	2	MI+LG	374.61	7.59	0.019817
5	2	MI+Elev	375.19	8.17	0.014828
6	3	SS + NS + NF	375.95	8.93	0.010141
7	2	Elev + CWED	378.78	11.76	0.002463
8	3	Elev + LG + CWED	380.36	13.34	0.001118
9	6	LG+SM+Pole+SS+NS+NF	380.42	13.40	0.001085
10	2	LG + CWED	381.8	14.78	0.000544
	3	Elev + AR + CWED	380.76	13.74	0.000912
12	3	Elev + SS	381.64	14.62	0.000587
13	1	Elev	381.65	14.63	0.000584
14	1	SS	382.36	15.34	0.000410
15	2	Elev + AR	382.63	15.61	0.000358
16	2	Elev + LG	383.28	16.26	0.000259
17	3	Elev + LG + SS	383.41	16.39	0.000242
18	3	LG + AR + CWED	383.74	16.72	0.000205
19	2	LG + SS	384.10	17.08	0.000172
20	3	Elev + LG + AR	384.37	17.35	0.000150
21	1	LG	384.68	17.66	0.000128
22	2	LG + SM	385.26	18.24	9.61E-05
23	2	LG + AR	385.49	18.47	8.56E-05

Elev= Elevation at 630m, MI= Moisture Index 630m, CWED= Contrast Weighted Edge Density at 630m, AR = All Roads, LG = PLand of Large Sawtimber at 630m, SM = PLand of Small Sawtimber at 630m, SS= PLand of Seedling/sapling timber at 630m, Pole= PLand of Pole timber at 630m, NS = PLand of Nonstocked timber at 630m, NF = PLand of Non-forest at 630m.

Table 8: P-values of Bivariate Scaling output of variables by Wilcoxon Rank Sum Scores raked by presence/non-detection (p=0.05). Most highly significant scales are highlighted for each variable. Scales are in meters.

Wilcoxon Rank Sum Scores								
Scale (m)	<u>PLand of</u>	PLand of	<u>PLand of</u>	PLand of	PLand of	PLand of		
	LG SAW	<u>SM SAW</u>	SEED/SAP	Pole	<u>Non-forest</u>	Non-stocked		
90	0.004**	0.083	0.283	0.037**	0.2	0.01		
180	0.0065	0.192	0.005	0.048	0.36	0.02		
270	0.018	0.304	0.001	0.147	0.48	0.006		
360	0.058	0.443	0.059	0.053	0.45	0.002		
450	0.127	0.482	0.116	0.149	0.36	0.015		
540	0.184	0.376	0.156	0.129	0.383	0.011		
630	0.25	0.314	0.149	0.172	0.487	0.003		
720	0.268	0.261	0.075	0.258	0.44	0.003		
810	0.259	0.277	0.14	0.3	0.494	0.002**		
900	0.0265	0.271	0.073	0.342	0.405	0.004		
990	0.285	0.256	0.000**	0.37	0.449	0.002		
1080	0.284	0.217	0.242	0.404	0.376	0.003		
				<u>Moisture</u>				
<u>Scale (m)</u>	AREA_AM	<u>Contagion</u>	CWED	Index	Elevation	All Road	<u>ls</u>	
90	0.1127	0.035	0.035	0.08	0.05**	<u>scale (m)</u>	<u>p-value</u>	
180	0.016	0.026	0.036	0.18	0.07	180	0.14	
270	0.013**	0.013	0.013	0.27	0.07	360	0.36	
360	0.11	0.013	0.013	0.09	0.07	540	0.27	
450	0.36	0.01	0.012	0.09	0.07	720	0.13	
540	0.47	0.007	0.006	0.04	0.06	900	0.11	
630	0.19	0.004**	0.004**	0.02	0.06	1080	0.09	
720	0.41	0.006	0.006	0.01	0.06	1260	0.08	
810	0.47	0.005	0.005	0.01	0.063	1440	0.09	
900	0.46	0.005	0.005	0.006**	0.06	1620	0.08	
990	0.485	0.006	0.006	0.008	0.07	1800	0.07	
1080	0.452	0.01	0.014	0.008	0.07	1980	0.07	

Table 9: Variables that were highly consistent (>99%) and universal throughout the factorial combination of all models. There were a total of 2, 048 models in a mirrored matrix therefore I evaluated 1,024 models. Coefficients of each variable, proportion of times each variable was significant, number of models and the percentage each variable was either positive or negative.

<u>Variable</u> <u>Code</u>	e <u>Variable Name</u> and Scale (<u>Universality</u> Prop Sig<0.25)	<u>Models</u> Positive	<u>Models</u> Negative	<u>%</u> Consistency
	<u>Model Intercept</u>				
MI	Moisture Index 900 m	1.00	0	1024	100
NS	PLand Non-Stocked 810 1	m 1.00	0	1024	100
CW	CWED 630	0.98	0	1024	100
Р	PLand Pole 90 m	0.96	1024	0	100
SS	PLand Seed/Sap 990 m	0.94	0	1024	100
LG	PLand Large 90 m	0.91	1024	0	100
CO	Contagion 630 m	0.79	7	1017	99.32

MI= Moisture Index at 900m, NS= Nonstocked timber at 810m, CW= Contrast Weighted Edge Density at 630m, P = PLand of Pole timber at 90m, SS = PLand of Seedling/sapling timber at 990m, LG= PLand of Large Sawtimber at 90m, CO= Contagion at 630m.

Table 10: Candidate Multiple-Scale models based on variables screened with Universality and Consistency. K is number of parameters.

<u>Model #</u>	<u>K</u>	MODEL
1	7	Global
2	5	MI + LG + SS + Pole + NS
3	5	CO + LG + SS + Pole + NS
4	4	LG + SS + Pole + NS
5	5	CWED + LG + SS + Pole + NS
6	2	LG + NS

MI= Moisture Index at 900m, CO= Contagion at 630m NS= Nonstocked timber at 810m, CW= Contrast Weighted Edge Density at 630m, P = PLand of Pole timber at 90m, SS = PLand of Seedling/sapling timber at 990m, LG = PLand of Large Sawtimber at 90m.

Table 11: Significant Multiple-Scale Universal and Consistent candidate models sorted by AIC. AIC and \triangle AIC. AIC weights (w_i) are shown. K is number of parameters. Top model with AIC<2 is highlighted.

<u>Model #</u>	<u>(K)</u>	MODEL	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	<u>i</u>
1	7	Global	359.33	0	0.951627
2	5	MI + LG + SS + Pole + NS	366.07	6.74	0.032726
3	5	CO + LG + SS + Pole + NS	369.77	10.44	0.005146
4	4	LG + SS + Pole + NS	369.81	10.48	0.005044
5	5	CWED + LG + SS + Pole + NS	369.93	10.60	0.004750
6	2	LG + NS	373.74	14.41	0.000707

MI= Moisture Index at 900m, CO= Contagion at 630m NS= Nonstocked timber at 810m, CW= Contrast Weighted Edge Density at 630m, P = PL of Pole timber at 90m, SS = PL and of Seedling/sapling timber at 990m, LG = PL and of Large Sawtimber at 90m.

Table 12: Most highly supported models and coefficients from significant candidate models for Plot Level (90m) analysis. AIC, Δ AIC and w_i are shown. Top ranked model and models with Δ AIC < 2 are shown. (** denotes highly significant variables in each model).

<u>Model</u>					AIC	<u>Δ AIC</u>	<u>wi</u>						
Large Sawtimber + Seedling/Sapling													
Coefficients:													
	Estimate	Std. Error	<u>Z</u>	$Pr(\geq z)$	366.48	8 0	0.259784						
(Intercept)	-0.419898	0.225036	-1.866	0.06205									
PLand LG	4.65E-03	3.06E-03	1.519	0.12876									
PLand Seed/Sap	-2.21E-02	6.67E-03	-3.308	0.00094 **									
Elevation+ Large Sawtimber + Seedling/Sapling													
Coefficients:		0	1 0										
	Estimate S	Std. Error	<u>Z</u>	$\underline{\Pr(\geq z)}$	366.6	7 0.19	0.23624						
(Intercept)	-1.357519	0.737307	-1.841	0.06559									
Elevation	0.00074	0.000552	1.34	0.18021									
PLand LG	0.004822	0.003071	1.57	0.11643									
PLand Seed/Sap	-0.021047	0.006685	-3.149	0.00164 **									
Seedling/Sapling													
Coefficients:													
	Estimate S	Std. Error	Z	Pr(> z)	366.8	0.32	0.221373						
(Intercept)	-0.157605	0.141459	-1.114	0.26522									
PLand Seed/Sap	-0.023767	0.006484	-3.666	0.000247 **									
Elevation + Seedl	ing/Sapling												
Coefficients:													
	Estimate S	Std. Error	Z	$\underline{Pr(\geq z)}$	367.15	5 0.67	0.185833						
(Intercept)	-1.038779	0.703787	-1.476	0.139948									
Elevation	0.000703	0.000549	1.28	0.20055									
PLand Seed/Sap	-0.022866	0.00649	-3.523	0.000426 **									

Elevation= Elevation at 90m, PLand LG = Percentage of Landscape comprised of Large Sawtimber at 90m, PLand Seed/Sap= Percentage of Landscape comprised of Seedling/sapling timber at 90m.
Table 13: Most highly supported models and coefficients from significant candidate models for the Home Range level (630 m). AIC, Δ AIC and *wi* are shown. Top ranked model and models with Δ AIC < 2 are shown. (** denotes highly significant variables in each model).

Model

<u>Global</u>					AIC	<u>Δ AIC</u>	<u>wi</u>
Coefficients:							
	Estimate	Std.Error	<u>Z</u>	$\underline{Pr(\geq z)}$	367.02	0	0.8814
(Intercept)	1.20E+00	1.51E+00	0.796	0.42604			
CWED	-3.96E-02	1.48E-02	-2.679	0.00738**			
Elev	-3.65E-04	7.10E-04	-0.514	0.60708			
MI	-9.74E+00	3.30E+00	-2.957	0.00311**			
All Roads	-9.25E+02	1.98E+03	-0.466	0.64121			
PLand LG.	1.05E-02	1.14E-02	0.918	0.35842			
PLand Small	1.28E-02	1.16E-02	1.107	0.26822			
PLand Pole	1.68E-02	1.31E-02	1.287	0.1982			
PLand Seed/Sap	-5.29E-03	1.08E-02	-0.492	0.62269			
PLand NS	-3.44E-01	1.72E-01	-2.001	0.04539**			
PLand NF	-2.94E-02	3.44E-02	-0.853	0.39346			

Elev= Elevation at 630m, MI= Moisture Index 630m, CWED= Contrast Weighted Edge Density at 630m, AR = All Roads, PLand LG = Percentage of Landscape comprised of Large Sawtimber at 630m, PLand SM = Percentage of Landscape comprised of Small Sawtimber at 630m, PLand SS= Percentage of Landscape comprised of Seedling/sapling timber at 630m, PLand Pole= Percentage of Landscape comprised of Pole timber at 630m, PLand NS = Percentage of Landscape comprised of Nonstocked timber at 630m, PLand NF = Percentage of Landscape comprised of Non-forest at 630m.

Model <u>Global</u>					<u>AIC</u>	<u> AAIC</u>	<u>wi</u>
	<u>Estimate</u>	Std. Error	<u>Z</u>	$\underline{Pr(\geq z)}$	359.33	0	0.95163
(Intercept)	3.9666	1.22778	3.231	0.00123			
MI 900	-1.957	0.76015	-2.575	0.01004**			
Contagion 630	-0.0331	0.01286	-2.575	0.01002**			
CWED 630	-0.0514	0.01721	-2.989	0.0028**			
PLand LG 90	0.00806	0.00349	2.312	0.02081**			
PLand Seed/Sap990	-0.0135	0.00729	-1.854	0.06368			
PLand Pole 90	0.01194	0.00664	1.798	0.07215			
PLand NS 810	-0.1309	0.10085	-1.298	0.19422			

Table 14: Most highly supported model and coefficients from significant candidate Multiple-scale models for universal and consistent variables. AIC, Δ AIC and wi are shown. Top ranked model and models with Δ AIC < 2 are shown. (** denotes highly significant variables in each model).

MI= Moisture Index 900m, CWED= Contrast Weighted Edge Density at 630m, PLand LG = Percentage of Landscape comprised of Large Sawtimber at 90m, PLand SS= Percentage of Landscape comprised of Seedling/sapling timber at 990m, PLand Pole= Percentage of Landscape comprised of Pole timber at 90m, PLand NS = Percentage of Landscape comprised of Nonstocked timber at 810m.

CHAPTER 1: FIGURES



Figure 1: Detailed picture of study area located in the panhandle of northern Idaho visualized on a Digital Elevation Map (DEM). This details the Selkirk Mountain range to the west, the Purcell Mountain range to the east, and the Cabinet Mountain range in the southeast corner of this map. The Kootenai River runs between theses ranges.



Figure 2: The shaded areas in this map show the historical distribution of *Martes americana* across the state of Idaho. The circled area denotes my study area located in the panhandle of northern Idaho within the Idaho Panhandle National Forest.



Figure 3: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Large sawtimber at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).



Figure 4: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Small sawtimber at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).



Figure 5: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Non-forest at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p < 0.05).



Figure 6: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Seedling/Sapling timber at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).



Figure 7: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Pole timber at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).



Figure 8: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS class metric Percentage of Landscape (PLand) of Non-stocked timber at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).



Figure 9: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS landscape metric Area Weighted Mean Patch Size (AREA_AM) at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).



Figure 10: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS landscape metric Contrast Weighted Edge Density (CWED) at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).



Figure 11: Results of bivariate scaling coupled with FRAGSTATS landscape metric Contagion at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).



Figure 12: Bivariate scaling of Moisture Index at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p<0.05).



Figure 13: Bivariate scaling of Elevation at scales 90m-1080m. Blue line denotes results from individual Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests. Pink line denotes significance level used (p < 0.05).

Chapter Two:

Landscape Genetics of Martes americana in northern Idaho

INTRODUCTION

Landscape Genetics

Habitat composition and configuration are important factors influencing dispersal patterns, and population persistence and growth. Ultimately these processes influence genetic diversity. Yet quantifying the relationship between landscape patterns and biological processes can be difficult. Habitat fragmentation leads to a decrease in landscape connectivity, thus hindering movement among resource patches (Taylor et al. 1993). Barriers are perceived uniquely by each individual species, and in ways that may not correspond to our accustomed assumptions of connectivity (Weins 2001). Heterogeneity caused by fragmentation can create movement barriers since less favorable habitat may not provide cover against predators or distances between remnant patches may be greater than those that a species is able to cross effectively (Arnold et al. 1993). In response, movement and dispersal of individuals may be altered by landscape fragmentation. This alteration can have dramatic consequences on populations due to: 1) reduction in gene flow between populations, leading to a loss of genetic diversity within fragments (Coulon et al. 2004; Frankham et al. 2002); 2) alteration of source/sink dynamics; or 3) recolonization of habitat following local extinction events. Dispersal and number of migrants between populations are important factors in population persistence, genetic structure and diversity, and species distribution.

Traditional species presence and movement studies such as radio-telemetry and mark-recapture analyses aim to quantify relationships between survival, dispersal distances, and ecological conditions. These studies are well suited for incorporation in large-scale manipulative landscape configuration experiments that measure organism movement and survival rates in response to fragmentation (McGarigal and Cushman 2002). However, mark-recapture studies are often extremely expensive to implement, take years to produce reliable results, and generally do not provide large landscape-level sample sizes. Likewise, telemetry studies are often limited in spatial scope, sample size and pseudoreplication (Cushman 2006; Litvaitis et al. 1994).

Alternatively, molecular genetic techniques can circumvent these problems by providing large samples of individual genotypes distributed across very large geographical areas. Expense is often minimized by using cost-effective, non-invasive sampling methods. This ability to produce very large sample sizes cost-effectively across large study areas makes landscape genetics one of the most powerful approaches currently available to study the influences of spatial pattern in resources and environmental conditions on organism distribution, movement, and gene flow (Cushman 2006, Cushman et al. 2006). The field of landscape genetics is a relatively young science aimed at quantifying evolutionary processes such as gene flow, genetic drift, and selection through the fusion of landscape ecology and population biology (Manel et al. 2003). It has emerged out of recent improvements in molecular genetic tools and an array of powerful spatial analysis methods and Geographic Information Systems (GIS), and allows researchers to correlate genetic patterns with landscape and environmental features (Manel et al. 2003). Genetic data can be used to quantify movement of individuals, dispersal, immigration and emigration, and the effects of landscape pattern change on metapopulation dynamics (Holderegger and Wagner 2006). Indirect approaches such as genetic analyses have proved very useful in estimating population level parameters, and can be computed across different geographical scales. This field has greatly improved our understanding of how geographical and environmental features structure genetic variation at both the population and individual levels, and can provide information concerning the interaction between landscape features and micro-evolutionary processes. Ultimately, understanding landscape effects on genetic connectivity provides insight into population connectivity, identifying functional corridors, and species distribution.

Individual vs. Population Level Analyses

Traditionally, most population genetic studies use models that assume populations are discretely bounded, isolated and internally panmictic (Cushman et al. 2006). In order to assess genetic differences among defined populations and subpopulations, F statistics and assignment tests are often used (Mills and Allendorf 1996; Wright 1943). Most conventional approaches are based on assignment of individuals to populations using methods that maximize within-group genetic similarity, or sample groups of the focal species and calculate Fst between populations. Many existing computer programs, such as STRUCTURE (Pritchard et al. 2000), will cluster individuals into discrete subpopulations and perform analyses. Subsequently, researchers often perform post hoc analyses in which they attempt to identify potential causes of the observed population structure.

There are several technical and logical limitations to these "cluster-and-explain" approaches (Cushman et al. 2006). First, there is often substantial internal structure within populations (Van Horn et al. 2004; Wright 1943) and it is often difficult to define discrete boundaries between populations. In vagile species, it is more common for populations to be either distributed in low densities between high-density "populations" or to be continuously distributed (Cushman et al. 2006; Manel et al. 2003). Second, these clustering approaches are designed to identify discrete groups, and will do so even if there are actually none. This leads to large risks of erroneously identifying discrete structure when gradient-type genetic patterns are functions of distance or landscape resistance. Third, the post-hoc effort to associate putative "groups" with environmental features runs a very high risk of obtaining incorrect results, and provides no rigorous framework to compare multiple alternative hypotheses of the factors that drive genetic structure. Classical population genetic analyses consist of sampling groups of individuals from predefined populations, and then estimating allele frequencies and parameters, such as genetic distance and F-statistics (Nei 1987; Weir & Cockerham 1984). For more continuously distributed populations, individuals are at risk of being grouped on the basis of somewhat arbitrarily criteria, such as morphological differences, geographical distance, or political boundaries (Manel et al. 2007; Pritchard et al. 2000).

An alternative to the population-level approach is to use the individual as the unit of observation. Spatial genetic patterns can be assessed at an individual level without defining populations in advance. This is extremely valuable, as it provides a means to evaluate the degree of support for discretely bounded populations versus alternative models in which genetic structure is related to the distance or movement cost between

individuals. Many individual based approaches use spatially referenced individual genotypes, and can reveal genetic patterns and identify migrants without prior assumptions about population boundaries. Individual-based approaches can be applied across a wider range of geographical scales, from within local populations to the continental level, and to any organism showing genetic variation (Manel et al. 2007). The scale at which landscape variables have the greatest influence on gene flow is important to identify processes influencing species biology (Storfer et al. 2007).

In this study, I used landscape genetic techniques to describe genetic sub-structure within the *Martes americana* population in northern Idaho and correlate these genetic patterns with environmental features, such as barriers and mountain ranges, and to understand how landscape features structure populations. Individuals were sampled across the study landscape, genetic relatedness between individuals was determined, and their genetic structure was correlated with specific landscape and environmental features (Coulon et al. 2004; Cushman et al. 2006; Manel et al. 2003).

American marten (*Martes americana*) are habitat specialists that depend on mature and old growth forest types in the western United States (Ruggiero et al. 1994). Marten populations are sensitive to forest fragmentation (Bissonette et al. 199; Hargis 1996) and the spatial configuration of patches of remnant mature forest is an important component of their environment (Chapin et al. 1998). Changes in land management practices and forest fragmentation can have a dramatic effect on landscape connectivity and dispersal of animals, potentially reducing gene flow within populations (Coulon et al. 2004).

Objectives

In this study, I used molecular genetic data gathered from *Martes americana* to quantify genetic continuity of this population in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest (IPNF) in northern Idaho. In order to identify patterns and processes influencing genetic continuity of *Martes americana* within the IPNF, I used both a spatial genetics data set and a landscape structure data set. Using the genetics data set, I employed an individual based approach to calculate pairwise genetic distances between individual animals. In this case each individual marten is the unit of observation and populations are not defined *a priori*. Landscape data includes structural and compositional components that quantify the quality of habitat as well as the surrounding matrix. Focusing on processes that drive landscape connectivity and quality rather than just spatial patterns alone will give insight into the genetic patterns of this marten population.

Three Alternative Organizational Models

I used molecular genetic data to test three mutually exclusive organizational models (Figure 1) concerning the effects of landscape composition on movements of *Martes americana* within my study area of the Idaho Panhandle National Forest (IPNF) in northern Idaho (Figure 2). I used genetic data coupled with landscape mapping of multiple environmental attributes to identify spatial genetic structure in my study region without having to *a priori* identify discrete populations. I tested organizational models (Cushman et al. 2006) concerning genetic structure of *Martes americana* in the IPNF. The three organizational models that I tested are Isolation by Distance, Isolation by Barrier, and Isolation as a function of Landscape Resistance.

Identifying barriers to gene flow is a major strength of the landscape genetics approach. Barriers can be defined as physical features such as roads, valleys, rivers etc., or environmental features such as temperature and moisture gradients. Epps et al. (2005) demonstrated that genetic diversity and structure in desert bighorn sheep (*Ovis canadensis nelsoni*) was negatively correlated with fenced highways, encroaching human development, and waterways. In my study I identified three potential barriers to the movement of martens that potentially may divide the regional population into three discrete, non-overlapping subpopulations. These barriers are 1) the Kootenai River trench between Bonners Ferry and the Canadian Border 2) the Kootenai River valley upstream of Bonners Ferry to the Montana Border, and 3) the Naples Valley south of Bonners Ferry to Sandpoint (Figure 2). These three potential barriers separate the Selkirk, Purcell and Cabinet Mountains and this organizational model represents a single hypothesis in which the marten population is subdivided into three discrete subpopulations, one population in each of these mountain ranges.

Isolation by distance is the second organizational model I tested. In continuous populations with limited dispersal rates, levels of gene flow tend to decrease with increasing geographic distances, which in turn will result in increasing genetic differentiation among individuals. This process is referred to as Isolation By Distance (IBD) (Wright 1943), and is a spatial pattern that can be determined by analyzing the distribution of pairwise estimates of genetic distances between individuals relative to the pairwise geographic distances between individuals (Rousset 2000). A model of IBD is based on Wright's neighborhood size assuming genetic equilibrium (equilibrium between genetic variability introduced by mutations and gene flow lost through genetic drift at

each generation: Rousset Chapt. 4, 2004), and also assumes that the relationship between genetic and geographic distances can allow estimates of dispersal distances if density is known (Hardy 2003; Rousset 2000). This model assumes that individuals disperse equally in all directions. Taking landscape and environmental features into account, the effect of landscape features such as topography could cause a departure from IBD, as found by Coulon et al. 2004 and Cushman et al. 2006.

Isolation by landscape resistance gradients is the third organizational model I tested. In contrast to the Isolation by Barriers and Isolation by Distance organizational models, in Isolation by Landscape Resistance I specified a number of separate hypotheses (See full description below) which describe potential joint effects of multiple landscape features, such as elevation, canopy closure, seral stage, and roads on the genetic structure of the population. My goal was to determine the relative support for isolation by distance and isolation by barriers in comparison with models of isolation by landscape resistance, and if isolation by landscape resistance proved to be the best organizational model, a subgoal is to identify the specific combination of landscape variables and their operative scales which are most strongly related to observed patterns of genetic substructure in this marten population.

METHODS

Genetic Sampling

Genetic samples were collected using non-invasive hair snare techniques in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest between 2003-2006. These methods are outlined in Chapter 1 (See *Genetic Methods*).

Genetic Analyses

Identification of individual martens was determined using nuclear DNA following methods outlined in Schwartz et al. 2006. For this analysis, I used genetic samples from Martes americana obtained over three sampling years of 2003-04, 2004-05, and 2005-06. Samples were analyzed at the Wildlife Genetics Lab within the U.S.F.S. Rocky Mountain Research Station in Missoula, MT. One hair sample per hair-snare station was analyzed to obtain a successful genotype. If the first sample failed, and one or more additional hair samples for that particular station remained, processing continued until a successful genotype was obtained. This resulted in a maximum of one marten genotype for each geographic location. If more than one animal is detected at a single site, one individual was chosen at random to represent that geographic location. Hair samples were extracted using Qiagen DNeary Tissue kit (Qiagen Inc., Hilden, Germany) with modifications as outlined in Mills et al. (2001). Marten samples were identified using primers previously used on marten. Marten samples were genotyped at 7 variable microsatellite loci (Table 1). Deviations from Hardy-Weinberg proportions, heterozygote excess and deficiency were analyzed with program GENEPOP (Version 3.1d; Raymond and Rousset 1995). Genetic variability for each locus within a population was estimated by calculating the

mean number of alleles (A), observed heterozygosity (Ho), expected heterozygosity (He), and allelic richness. Probability of identity (Evett and Weir 1998) was calculated. In order to estimate gene flow between the Selkirk, Purcell, and Cabinet mountain ranges, global Fst and Fst by mountain range was calculated with program FSTAT 2.9.3. Fst is a measure of genetic divergence among subpopulations that ranges from 0-1. A measure closer to 0 would represent a subpopulation with equal allele frequencies, while a measure closer to 1 would imply subpopulations are completely different (Allendorf and Luikart 2007). A Principle Components Analysis (PCA) was performed using genetic data of all samples to look for population substructure based on location within the study area. Data were organized by mountain range (Selkirk, Purcell, or Cabinet) to look for any obvious substructure.

Genetic Distance

Martens detected at sample sites were assumed to be representative of the population of martens at that site. For each individual marten, alleles from a seven locus genotype were coded as 0 (allele absent), 1 (heterozygous for that allele), or 2 (homozygous for that allele). This resulted in a matrix with 51 columns, one for each allele in the sampled population, and 70 rows, one for each individual marten detected. A dissimilarity matrix was calculated on all pairs of sampled martens using the Bray-Curtis percentage dissimilarity measure among individuals (Cushman et al. 2006; Legendre and Legendre 1998).

Isolation by Geographic Distance

To test the hypothesis of Isolation By Distance (IBD), I used Euclidean distance between all pairs of martens in the landscape. This hypothesis predicts that genetic similarity will decrease with increasing geographic (Euclidean) distance. I generated a cost matrix based on the Euclidean distances between all pairs of martens based on UTM coordinates at the points of marten detections. This IBD model assumes that Euclidean distance between individuals is the only factor that influences genetic differences. If this hypothesis is true, then all other hypotheses concerning genetic structure of marten populations within the IPNF must be false. Using partial Mantel tests, this hypothesis assumes that there will be no barrier or landscape resistance effects independent of Euclidean distance (Table 2).

Isolation by Barrier

There are three mountain ranges within my study landscape, which are the Selkirk, Purcell, and Cabinet mountains. The Selkirk mountain range lies to the west of the Kootenai River Valley, while the Purcell mountain range lies east of this valley, and the Cabinet mountains are directly below this (Figure 2). I used a categorical model matrix that predicts panmixia within each mountain range (Selkirk, Purcell, and Cabinet), but not between all three mountain ranges. This model of isolation by barrier assumes that the valleys between each mountain range are barriers to gene flow separating three internally panmictic subpopulations. If this hypothesis is true, then the alternative hypotheses of isolation by distance or landscape resistance gradients must be false.

Using partial Mantel tests, this hypothesis assumes that there will be no distance or landscape resistance effects independent of isolation by barrier (Table 2).

Isolation by Landscape Resistance

A priori, I identified a number of landscape and environmental features that could have a measurable effect on population structure of American marten in the IPNF based on previously published marten studies (Bissonnette et al. 1997; Buskirk and Powell 1994; Hargis et al.1999; Phillips et al. 1994; Taylor 1993). My sub-hypotheses are both study-area specific as well as marten specific hypotheses developed to test landscape factors that structure marten populations within the IPNF. In order to test specific hypotheses regarding landscape features, I created resistance surfaces that assign resistance to movement values to each cell across the landscape based on different landscape attributes. Factors that promote or impede movement of animals can be formalized into resistance surfaces (e.g. Cushman et al. 2006). Each of these resistance surfaces represents an alternative hypothesis regarding factors that may impede or promote marten movement across the landscape.

I developed landscape resistance surfaces based on four factors that have previously been reported to influence habitat selection by American martens: elevation, roads, seral stage based on Diameter and Breast Height (DBH) (Table 3), and Percent Canopy cover (1-100%). Percent canopy cover was taken from National Landcover Data (NLCD) and clipped to encompass my study area only. The DBH layer was taken from the U.S. Forest Service Region 1 Vegetation Mapping project and clipped to cover my study area. The roads map was produced by a related project in the same study area

(Sloan et al. pers com.) and contains all roads in the study area, divided among three types: highways, paved roads and unpaved forest roads. The elevation variables were derived from a 30m DEM (USGS 2000). All of these base maps were resampled to 30m pixel size.

Landscape-Resistance Modeling

Quantifying the relationship between landscape structure and gene flow can give biologists insight into connectivity of populations and metapopulations through space and time. Examining correlations between genetic similarity of individuals across large landscapes and hypothetical movement cost models can yield reliable inferences about population connectivity. By linking these least cost models to the actual patterns of genetic similarity among individuals it is possible to obtain comprehensive evidence describing the relationship between landscape structure and gene flow, and to produce species-specific maps of landscape connectivity. Least cost paths are also valuable in identifying landscape variables that facilitate gene flow and function as corridors, thus linking individuals (Spear et al. 2005; Vignieri 2005).

Calculating Least Cost Distances among Marten Locations for Each Hypothesis

I computed the cumulative cost distances of traversing the least-cost route from each individual marten to every other marten's location for each landscape resistance hypothesis. This calculation is essentially the path of movement an individual would likely take in order to avoid inhospitable areas and facilitate ease of movement. I used the COSTDISTANCE function in ArcGIS (ESRI 2003) to create cost matrices of the

least-cost distance from each marten to every other marten detected within the landscape across all of the resistance surfaces.

The cost matrices for the isolation by distance and isolation by barrier model are described below. From each resistance surface for the single-variable of elevation, canopy closure and DBH, I derived a matrix of movement costs based upon the least-cost movement paths between pairs of individuals. I then compared the genetic distance among individuals with the cost of movement paths between them and identified the functions at which each factor had the strongest relationship with marten genetic structure. Once these significant functions were identified I created the multiple-variable resistance surfaces described in Table 5.

Scaling Landscape Factors

A priori, I wanted to determine the functional relationship at which each landscape feature is most strongly correlated with marten genetic structure. Therefore, I produced a range of functionally scaled resistance surfaces for each of DBH, Canopy Cover, and Elevation. I produced eight functionally scaled resistance surfaces for canopy cover and DBH by transforming the base layers with power functions to determine the functional relationship. Forest type classification using DBH and percent canopy cover and were evaluated over eight different levels that included linear and power functions of 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th power (Figures 3 and 4). As seen in Figures 3 and 4, landscape resistance predicted by these power functions ranges from strongly convex to strongly concave over the range of the x-variable. Using a scaling method by fitting functions to each resistance factor, I can identify the scaling function at which each factor

is most important in predicting marten genetic structure across my study landscape in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest (IPNF). Both percent canopy cover and DBH raster maps were rescaled to 1-10, 1 being lowest resistance and 10 being highest resistance.

Elevation serves as a proxy for climate (e.g. snowpack) and vegetation composition. Landscape resistance due to elevation was modeled as a Gaussian function, on the expectation that marten should show a unimodal optimum in movement ability with respect to elevation. Transforming elevation using a Gaussian function results in the delineation of an optimum elevation for marten movement. This optimum elevation delineates the highest habitat quality/lowest resistance, with habitat quality declining and landscape resistance increasing at elevations above and below this optimum. The form of the Gaussian function is defined on the basis of the optimum elevation and the standard deviation. The standard deviation defines the rate of change in landscape resistance above and below the optimum. The optimum elevation is assigned a minimum resistance of 1 and the maximum resistance of 10. I decided to evaluate marten response to a range of possible optimum elevations and a range of potential standard deviations of the Gaussian resistance function in order to find the combination of elevation and standard deviation to which marten genetic patterns are most strongly related. I tested elevation resistance grids with elevation optima ranging from 1,200m to 2,000m and standard deviations around the optima ranging from 300m to 1000m in 100m increments. In all, there were 9 levels of elevation (1,200m-2,000m) and 8 levels of standard deviation (300m-1,000m in 100m increments), giving a factorial combination of 72 elevation/standard deviation models (Table 4).

One level of roads was considered and represented as a categorical function. Roads were classified as either a major highway or "other road". Other roads included county and U.S. Forest Service roads that were both gated and un-gated. This Roads factor was scaled 1-10, 1 being low resistance and 10 being high resistance. All non-road pixels were given a value of 1, major highways a resistance of 10, and other roads resistance of 5.

Resistance of each factor to gene flow was calculated across 72 functions of elevation, one level of roads, eight functions of forest type classes and eight functions of percent canopy cover. All four factors are scaled from 1 (low resistance) to 10 (high resistance). This allows a range of functions representing each factor permitting the relative importance of each factor to be tested. After completing Mantel and Partial Mantel tests and evaluating Mantel's r correlation coefficient and most significant Monte-Carlo p-value, the best function for each factor was chosen to be included in multi-variable landscape resistance models.

Multi-variable Landscape Resistance Hypotheses

Multivariate resistance surfaces were composed containing the factorial combinations of the best function of each of the four factors. In each test, genetic distance is the response variable and each resistance hypothesis is a predictor variable (Table 5). Resistance grids corresponding to each factor were combined into models by addition. These hypotheses were represented by GIS raster maps where the cell values were equal to the proposed resistance value of each cell to gene flow. After addition, the minimum value on the combined raster maps was 4, which is the sum of the minimum

values of the 4 factors, and the maximum resistance to gene flow could be 40. Resistance grids were created for each hypothesis tested.

Support for Models of Genetic Structure

These landscape models are hypotheses in which the cumulative cost of movement across a resistance surface is the best predictor of genetic structure for *Martes americana* in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest. The three organizational models are logically mutually exclusive. The isolation by barrier model hypothesizes that genetic structure is broken into three disjunct and internally panmictic subpopulations. If this model is true then isolation by distance and isolation by landscape resistance must be false. Conversely, the isolation by distance model hypothesizes that genetic differences are a function of only the geographical distance between individuals. If this model is true then the barrier and the landscape resistance models must be false. Likewise, if isolation by landscape resistance is the correct hypothesis, then there will be no distance or barrier effects independent of isolation by landscape resistance.

I used Mantel (Mantel 1967) and partial Mantel tests (Legendre et al. 2002; Smouse et al. 1986) to assess the support for each of my hypotheses. The Mantel test evaluates the correlation between two dissimilarity matrices. It is essentially a multivariate distance regression in which the dependent variables are a matrix of genetic dissimilarity and the independent variables are a matrix of cost distances among pairs of sample locations. These dissimilarity matrices may represent the pair-wise differences among sample units based on one or many variables. In my case, the dependent variable matrix reports the percentage dissimilarity in 51 alleles across seven micro-satellite loci,

and the independent variable matrices reflect pair-wise cost distance among the locations at which each individual marten was sampled for each resistance hypothesis.

A significant Mantel correlation would indicate that the genetic differences among individual martens are correlated with the resistance hypothesis represented in the independent variable matrix. Values of pair-wise distance matrices, such as those used in Mantel tests, are not independent; changing the position of one observation would change n-1 of the distances. Therefore, significance tests are obtained through Monte Carlo permutation, in which the rows and columns of one of the matrices are shuffled and the test statistic recalculated after each permutation. The probability of the null hypothesis being correct given the data is the proportion of permutations that lead to a higher correlation coefficient. I used 10,000 permutations for each hypothesis tested. As they are correlation coefficients, Mantel and partial Mantel coefficients can also be used to evaluate support. Higher values of the Mantel correlation coefficient (r) statistic indicate greater support for a particular landscape resistance hypothesis.

While the Mantel test only allows a comparison between two distance matrices, a Partial Mantel test can be used to compare three or more matrices. The partial Mantel test tests the correlation between two distance matrices after removing, or partialling out, the influences of a third matrix. Simply put, this a comparison between two dissimilarity matrices while controlling for the third. In the partial Mantel test, to calculate the relationship between dissimilarity matrices A and B, while partialling out the effects of matrix C, the test statistic is calculated by constructing a matrix of residuals, A', of the regression between A and C, and a matrix of residuals, B', of the regression between B and C. The two residual matrices, A' and B', are then compared by a standard Mantel

test. The test of statistical significance is also done through randomization tests. Rows and columns of one of the matrices are randomly permuted many times, with the correlation recalculated each time.

In order to determine which of the three organizational models was most supported by the data, I used causal modeling on resemblance matrices (Cushman et al. 2006; Legendre 1993; Legendre and Troussellier 1988). Causal modeling on resemblance matrices uses a series of partial Mantel tests to evaluate the pattern of support for alternative causal explanations for an observed pattern of genetic relatedness. Each alternative model will have a diagnostic set of expected outcomes in a series of partial Mantel tests, which provides a decisive means to reject unsupported alternative hypotheses and determine which of the remaining hypotheses receive the greatest support. In each test, genetic distance is the response variable and each resistance hypothesis is a predictor variable. Partial Mantel correlation coefficients are used to weigh the degree of support of each hypothesis and determine causality (Legendre and Troussellier 1988). Each of the three alternative models (Isolation by Barriers, Isolation by Distance, Isolation by Landscape Resistance) can be falsified with causal modeling by comparing the results of a set of diagnostic partial Mantel tests to the expected significance pattern for each (Table 6).

RESULTS

Genetic Results

Martens were detected at 152 stations over the three sampling years of 2003-04, 2004-05, and 2005-06. Genotypes for 90 stations (59.2%) were obtained, and 70 unique individual marten were detected. Within 7 variable microsatellite loci the number of alleles ranged from 5-10 alleles per loci, with a total of 51 alleles. Overall, observed heterozygosity was less than expected heterozygosity in 6 out of 7 loci (Table 1). Global Fst was 0.045, and pairwise Fst was 0.016 between Purcell and Cabinet mountain ranges, 0.033 between Purcell and Selkirk mountain ranges, and 0.025 between the Cabinet and Selkirk mountain ranges (Table 7). These results demonstrate a low degree of differentiation among marten populations in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest. Results from the PCA using location data shows little substructure within the sampled population of *Martes americana* (Figure 5).

Isolation by Distance Model

Genetic distance was significantly correlated with Geographic (Euclidean) distance using the model G ~ D (r =0.1723, p=0.0001). This relationship was not significant when the partial Mantel test G ~ D | B was performed (r =0.0527, p=0.085), controlling for the effect of a barrier (Table 8).

Isolation by Barrier Model

Genetic distance was significantly correlated with mountain range as a barrier

Using the model G ~ B (r =0.1764, p=0.0001). This relationship was significant when the partial Mantel test G ~ B | D was performed (r =0.0652, p=0.0393), controlling for the effect of Euclidean distance (Table 8).

Landscape Resistance Models

Resistance of each factor to gene flow was initially evaluated in a univariate fashion across 72 levels of elevation (Table 9), one level of roads scaled from 1 (low resistance) to 10 (high resistance), eight functions of forest type classes and 8 functions of percent canopy cover. For each factor, the best function was chosen to be included in the multivariate landscape resistance model after completing Mantel and Partial Mantel tests and evaluating Mantel's r and most significant Monte-Carlo p-value. These hypotheses were represented by GIS raster maps where the cell values were equal to the proposed resistance value of each cell to gene flow. Resistance surfaces were composed containing the factorial combinations of each of these four factors. After addition, the minimum value on the combined raster maps was 4, which is the sum of the minimum values of the 4 factors. Resistance grids were created for each hypothesis tested.

A) Elevation

Each landscape resistance model tested was based on pairwise least cost paths between individual martens and ranked by Mantel's r and Monte-Carlo p-value. Out of 72 models of landscape resistance with respect to elevation, Elevation 1600m with a standard deviation of 600m (r = 0.2019, p=0.0001) was the most supported elevation model based on both Monte-Carlo p-value and Mantel's r value (Table 9) correlated to

marten genetic structure within the study landscape, and was also supported when Euclidean distance (r = 0.12022, p=0.0007) was partialled out, and mountain range as a barrier (r = 0.0999, p=0.0132) was partialled out (Table 11). Therefore, Elevation 1600m with a standard deviation of 600m was included in the full factorial of landscape resistance models as the elevation factor.

B) DBH and Canopy Cover

Eight functions of DBH forest classification, eight functions of percent canopy cover, and one level of roads were modeled with respect to genetic distance, geographic (Euclidean) distance, and mountain range as a barrier. The highest ranked DBH and Canopy Cover variables were DBH 2nd, Percent Canopy Cover Linear, and Roads (Table 10). Partial Mantel tests for all four variables are shown in Table 11. These three variables were then used to model a full factorial combination of these factors.

C) Factorial Models

The full factorial combination included the highest ranked variables of DBH 2nd, Percent Canopy Cover Linear, Elevation 1600m with a standard deviation of 600m, and Roads. The factorial modeling of these 4 variables yielded a total of 33 landscape resistance hypothesis models based on pairwise least cost paths between all individual martens (Table 12). All models were evaluated first by significance of the Monte-Carlo p-value and then by the largest Mantel's r value. The model G ~ Elevation 1600m with a standard deviation of 600m (r = 0.2019, p=0.0001) was the most highly supported landscape resistance model correlated to genetic structure of *Martes americana* within

the Idaho Panhandle National Forest (Table 13). This most supported model of Elevation 1600m s.d. 600m was also significant when geographic distance (r = 0.1202, p = 0.0007) and barrier (r = 0.0999, p=0.0132) was partialled out (Table 11). Models G ~ DBH 2nd (r = 0.1828, p=0.0001) and G ~ Canopy Cover Linear (r = 0.1798, p=0.0001) were ranked as the 2nd and 3rd highest ranked models respectively (Table 13). There were no additional significant partial models of the landscape resistance factorial analysis (Table 13).

Based on Monte-Carlo p-value and Mantel's r correlation coefficient, the landscape resistance model depicting the least cost path is the most supported model compared to models of Isolation by Barrier and Isolation by Distance (Euclidean distance) (Table 14). Both alternative models of Isolation by Barriers and Isolation by Distance were falsified with causal modeling by comparing the results of a set of diagnostic partial Mantel tests to the expected significance pattern for each hypothesis (Table 15).

DISCUSSION

In this study, non-invasively collected hair samples produced genetic data used to model genetic relationships of *Martes americana* in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest (IPNF). Genetic data was paired with empirical landscape structure data and GIS layers to correlate genetic structure with landscape and environmental features. This analytical approach provides insight on how geographical and environmental features structure genetic variation at both the population and individual levels, and is important in quantifying factors acting upon gene flow.

Local genetic structure in *Martes americana* was examined using global and pairwise Fst coefficients, however no robust global genetic structure or strong structure based on mountain range was apparent from the Fst coefficients (Table 7). These results demonstrate a low degree of differentiation among marten populations in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest, demonstrating that animals within this study area are not a discrete finite population or group of subpopulations, but conversely a large continuously distributed population. A low level of genetic structure among individuals and all samples is frequent in a highly mobile species such as American marten. Some marten populations have been documented to be separated by large distances of several hundred kilometers or more and appear genetically undifferentiated (Kyle and Strobeck 2003), indicating a weak genetic structure. This low level of structure within this population in the IPNF may be in part attributed to high levels of gene flow within the study region. Fstatistics are widely used in population genetic studies but may not always be a good measure of spatial genetic structure within populations and a priori defining populations could lead to incorrect conclusions.

A total of 164 models of genetic structure were tested. I tested landscape genetic relationships of *Martes americana* against Geographical (Euclidean) Distance, large valleys as Barriers, and 160 hypotheses of Landscape Resistance. Genetic distance was based on pairwise genetic distance between individuals and was significantly correlated with geographical (Euclidean) distance, however this relationship was not significant when mountain range as a Barrier was partialled out. Genetic distance was tested against mountain range as a Barrier, and I found this model significant both by itself and when Geographical Distance was partialled out (Table 8). I tested hypotheses of landscape resistance to gene flow based on DBH size classes, Percent Canopy Cover, Roads, and Elevation. Fitting functions to factors revealed that DBH 2nd, % Canopy Cover Linear, Elevation 1600m with a standard deviation of 600m, and Roads were the most significant variables based on Mantel's r and Monte-Carlo p-value. Factorial combinations of these 4 variables were tested (Table 13).

In my study landscape within the Idaho Panhandle National Forest in northern Idaho, the genetic distance between individual American martens was most highly correlated (r = 0.2019, p=0.0001) with a Gaussian function on elevation with a minimum resistance of 1600m, standard deviation of 600m (Table 13, Figure 7). This relationship was significant when both mountain range as a barrier and geographic distance were partialled out (Table 11). Although there were 14 other significant landscape resistance models, G ~ Elevation 1600 std.dev. 600m had the highest ranked Mantel's r value and was much higher than the 2nd and 3rd models respectively. In this study, the roads variable was not a particularly strong (r=0.1353, P=0.001) barrier to gene flow in American marten.

Although the Mantel's r correlation coefficients in this study were generally low, Coulon et al. (2004) state that when working at the individual level there is high inherent variability when compared to interpopulation analyses, and it is an inherent characteristic to obtain lower correlation coefficients using individual-based approaches. It is worth noting that the Mantel's r values reported in this study are substantially higher than most previously published values (e.g. Broquet et al. 2006; Coulon et al. 2004; and Cushman et al. 2006), indicating a relatively substantial degree of genetic differentiation along landscape resistance gradients. For example, Cushman et al. (2006) conducted a similar analysis within the same study area in northern Idaho using black bears (Ursus americana). Mantel's r values ranged from 0.1257 (highest) to 0.0477 (lowest), and were substantially lower than those in my study (Cushman et al. 2006, unpublished data). A study by Broquet et al. 2006 on *Martes americana* in northwestern Ontario, Canada focused on models of IBD and landscape connectivity, and contained Mantel r-values that were nearly an order of magnitude lower than Mantel r-values in my study. And finally, Coulon et al. (2004) used Mantel and partial Mantel tests to hypotheses of IBD and least-cost paths for European roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) in southwestern France. Mantel's r-values for all hypotheses they tested ranged from -0.0001 (males) to 0.031 (females), and remained very low comparatively.

Several landscape genetics studies tested only one or very few models of landscape resistance against isolation by distance, global models of mating, or barriers (Andreassen et al. 1998; Coulon et al. 2004; Coulon et al. 2006; Danielson and Hubbard 2000). Most other publications using hypothesis testing don't evaluate a large number of landscape resistance hypotheses and therefore don't have a large number of significant

models. Therefore, after ranking models by most significant Monte-Carlo p-value I relied on evaluating models by highest Mantel's r correlation coefficients. My study used a multi-model approach to test multiple hypotheses concerning landscape resistance to identify environmental factors that appear to drive landscape genetic patterns in American marten.

Martens are responding significantly to elevation, which corresponds to specific levels of snow cover and forest types appearing at these elevations. In the IPNF, precipitation ranges from a mean of more than 1,778 mm in the highest peaks to less than 762.0 mm within the rain shadow of the Selkirk Mountains. Heavy snow cover in this study region excludes predators (e.g. Canis latrans), and provides high-quality hunting conditions via subnivean space. By avoiding lower elevations, genetic structure of *Martes americana* is tightly correlated with connectivity at mid to high elevations. Forest types at this elevation are within the subalpine zone characterized by moist, cool sites where Subalpine fir (Abies lasiocarpa) and Engelmann spruce (Picea engelmannii) are codominant above 1300m, and a diverse mixed forest of Western Larch (Larix occidentalis), Western White pine (*Pinus monticola*), and Spruce-fir mix are the dominant species. My results suggest that the genetic structure of martens is determined by the connectivity of stands of mature spruce-fir mixed forest at mid to high elevations. Dispersal distances of juveniles may be shorter due to high quality habitat areas at these elevations, thus robustly structuring genetic relationships within this landscape.

Comparing multiple hypotheses concerning geographic distance, barrier, and landscape resistance allowed me to examine the importance of evaluating multiple working hypotheses. Hypotheses of isolation by geographic distance and valleys
between mountain ranges as a barrier were not found to be the most highly supported drivers of genetic structure of Martes americana. I was able to evaluate and rank 160 landscape hypotheses and find the most highly supported model correlated to marten genetic structure in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest. If I had just tested models of geographic distance or isolation by barrier, I would have spuriously concluded that a model of Isolation by barrier was in fact the primary driver of genetic structure in *Martes* americana in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest. Many molecular and population biology studies stop when a model of IBD is supported (e.g. Broquet et al. 2006), and may in fact miss the true drivers of genetic structure if landscape resistance models are not tested. My model of landscape resistance was a much stronger driver genetic structure than other models of geographic distance and barrier (Table 14). In this study, the hypothesis of isolation by barrier was not supported as a driver gene flow for *Martes* americana in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest when landscape resistance was partialled out. The model of isolation by geographic distance was not significant when barrier was partialled out, therefore it is not a supported hypothesis (Table 15). Least cost modeling is a valuable tool in identifying landscape variables that facilitate gene flow and functional movement corridors. Biologists and managers are able to work towards facilitating movement corridors that maximize quality habitat that facilitates gene flow (Vignieri 2005). Exploring the processes that cause genetic patterns and identifying areas of genetic discontinuity are important tools for species conservation.

92

CONCLUSION

Indirect approaches based on genetic structure are valuable and useful in determining mechanisms such as dispersal, immigration and emigration rates, genetic drift, and the effects of landscape and environmental features. Landscape genetics modeling allowed me to test explicit hypotheses concerning genetic structure of *Martes* americana in the Idaho Panhandle National Forest. I evaluated multiple competing models to infer causation using pairwise genetic distance between individuals rather than between previously defined groups or populations. Spatially explicit data was used to model factors acting upon gene flow. In this study, it was important to test a range of alternative and falsifiable explanations to identify the true driver of genetic structure across the landscape. Comparing models of Isolation by distance, Isolation by barrier, and landscape resistance hypotheses allowed me to falsify distance and barrier, and rank alternative landscape resistance hypotheses. It was highly important to test a range of landscape hypotheses that included factors most important to gene flow, and that were at the proper scale. These results will help managers to identify biologically important corridors that facilitate movement and gene flow within this marten population.

Genetic structure can have a substantial time lag associated with changes in gene flow. Genetic structure results from both historic and contemporary processes, and current observed genetic structure may be more representative of processes that occurred as a result of a previous landscape pattern or configuration (Cushman et al. 2006; Storfer et al. 2007). This lag time can be attributed to effective population size (Ne) and population substructure (Wright 1943). It is important to consider time lag to equilibrium

93

number of generations it takes to reach equilibrium. In addition, *Martes americana* in the IPNF are considered a fur bearing species and are currently trapped throughout my study area, which could cause concerns about detection rates and allelic richness.

CHAPTER 2: TABLES

Table 1: Summary of genetic diversity of 7 microsatellite loci of a *Martes americana* population in Northern Idaho. Allelic richness (*A*) and expected heterozygosity (*He*), and (*Fis*) are shown.

Locus	# of alleles	A	Но	Не	Fis	
	_					
Ma8	8		0.750	0.762	0.016	
Gg7	10		0.652	0.807	0.191	
Ggu234	5		0.539	0.560	0.037	
Ggu216	8		0.701	0.771	0.090	
Gg3	6		0.626	0.634	0.013	
Mal	9		0.573	0.763	0.249	
Ma2	5		0.747	0.721	-0.036	

Table 2: Models of genetic distance by geographic distance and genetic distance by barrier. Mantel tests and partial Mantel tests were used in landscape genetics modeling testing the hypotheses of Isolation by barrier and Isolation by distance. G = Genetic Distance, D = Geographic Distance, and B = Barrier.

Model	Test
$G \sim D$	Mantel Test
$G \sim B$	Mantel Tests
$G \sim D \mid B$	Partial Mantel Test
$G \sim B \mid D$	Partial Mantel Test

Table 3: Forest Class Type based on Diameter at Breast Height and timber classification on both state and federal lands in the Idaho Panhandle Nat'l Forest used as a resistance map in landscape resistance modeling. Diameter at Breast Height (DBH) is presented.

	<u>Class</u>	Description
1	Large Sawtimber	Dominant and codominant trees with DBH > 16 in
2	Small Sawtimber	Dominant and codominant tress with DBH 8-16 in
3	Pole Sawtimber	Dominant and codominant trees with DBH 3-7.9 in
4	Seedling/Sapling	Crop trees< 4.5 ft and < 3 in DBH (open canopy)
5	Non-forest	Non-forested areas

Table 4: Models of elevation and standard deviations tested to predict genetic structure of *Martes americana* with respect to landscape resistance. A factorial combination of all elevations and all standard deviations was used, yielding 72 total elevation models. The highest ranked elevation model was then used in factorial landscape resistance modeling.

	Elevation Ranges (m)	Standard deviations (m)	
1.	1200	300	
2.	1300	400	
3.	1400	500	
4.	1500	600	
5.	1600	700	
6.	1700	800	
7.	1800	900	
8.	1900	1000	
9.	2000		

Table 5: Models of Landscape Resistance hypothesized to have an effect on genetic
structure of <i>Martes americana</i> in the IPNF. Models include1 level of Roads, 8 Percent
Canopy Cover power functions, and 8 DBH power functions. Models were tested using
Mantel and Partial Mantel's tests. Highest ranked models were then used in the full
factorial modeling. G = Genetic Distance.

	<u>Model</u>	<u>Test</u>
1	G ~ DBH L	Mantel
2	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd}$	Mantel
3	$G \sim DBH 3^{rd}$	Mantel
4	$G \sim DBH \ 4^{th}$	Mantel
5	$G \sim DBH \ 0.2$	Mantel
6	$G \sim DBH 0.4$	Mantel
7	G ~ DBH 0.6	Mantel
8	G ~ DBH 0.8	Mantel
9	$G \sim Canopy L$	Mantel
10	$G \sim Canopy 2^{nd}$	Mantel
11	$G \sim Canopy 3^{rd}$	Mantel
12	$G \sim Canopy 4^{th}$	Mantel
13	G ~ Canopy 0.2	Mantel
14	G ~ Canopy 0.4	Mantel
16	G ~ Canopy 0.6	Mantel
17	G ~ Canopy 0.8	Mantel
18	G ~ Roads	Mantel
19	G ~ DBH L Barrier	Partial Mantel
20	$G \sim DBH L \mid Euclidean$	Partial Mantel
21	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} Barrier$	Partial Mantel
22	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd}$ Euclidean	Partial Mantel
23	$G \sim DBH 3^{rd} Barrier$	Partial Mantel
24	$G \sim DBH \ 3^{rd}$ Euclidean	Partial Mantel
25	$G \sim DBH 4^{th} \mid Barrier$	Partial Mantel
26	$G \sim DBH 4^{th} $ Euclidean	Partial Mantel
27	G ~ DBH 0.2 Barrier	Partial Mantel
28	$G \sim DBH \ 0.2 \mid Euclidean$	Partial Mantel
29	$G \sim DBH \ 0.4 \mid Barrier$	Partial Mantel
30	$G \sim DBH \ 0.4 \mid Euclidean$	Partial Mantel
31	G ~ DBH 0.6 Barrier	Partial Mantel

32	G ~ DBH 0.6 Euclidean	Partial Mantel
33	G ~ DBH 0.8 Barrier	Partial Mantel
34	$G \sim DBH \ 0.8 \mid Euclidean$	Partial Mantel
35	$G \sim Canopy L \mid Barrier$	Partial Mantel
36	$G \sim Canopy L \mid Euclidean$	Partial Mantel
37	$G \sim Canopy \ 2^{nd} \mid Barrier$	Partial Mantel
38	$G \sim Canopy 2^{nd} \mid Euclidean$	Partial Mantel
39	$G \sim Canopy 3^{rd} \mid Barrier$	Partial Mantel
40	$G \sim Canopy 3^{rd} $ Euclidean	Partial Mantel
41	$G \sim Canopy 4^{th} Barrier$	Partial Mantel
42	$G \sim Canopy 4^{th} \mid Euclidean$	Partial Mantel
43	G ~ Canopy 0.2 Barrier	Partial Mantel
44	G ~ Canopy 0.2 Euclidean	Partial Mantel
45	G ~ Canopy 0.4 Barrier	Partial Mantel
46	G ~ Canopy 0.4 Euclidean	Partial Mantel
47	G ~ Canopy 0.6 Barrier	Partial Mantel
48	G ~ Canopy 0.6 Euclidean	Partial Mantel
49	G ~ Canopy 0.8 Barrier	Partial Mantel
50	G ~ Canopy 0.8 Euclidean	Partial Mantel
51	G ~ Roads Barrier	Partial Mantel
52	$G \sim Roads \mid Euclidean$	Partial Mantel
53	$G \sim DBH \; 2^{nd} \mid Canopy \; L$	Partial Mantel
54	$G \sim Canopy \; L \mid DBH \; 2^{nd}$	Partial Mantel

DBH = Diameter at Breast Height, Canopy = Percent Canopy Cover, L=Linear, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6 are power functions, Barrier = Mountain range as a barrier, and Euclidean = Euclidean Distance.

Table 6. Causal modeling and diagnostic expectations for partial Mantel tests that allow for the rejection of incorrect causal explanations of genetic patterns. G = matrix of pairwise genetic dissimilarity; B = model matrix separating individuals among the threemountain ranges; <math>D = matrix of pair-wise Euclidean distance among sampled individuals; L = matrix of pair-wise cost distance among sampled individuals for a landscape resistance hypothesis. $G \sim B$ indicates a Mantel test between genetic dissimilarity and the Barrier model matrix; $G \sim B|D$ indicates a partial Mantel test between genetic dissimilarity and the Barrier model matrix, while partialling out the effects of Euclidean distance among sampled individuals.

Hypothesis	Expected Significant	Expected to be
	Positive Correlations	Non-significant
Barrier	$G \sim B$	$G \sim L \mid B$
	$G \sim B \mid D$	$G \sim D B$
	$G \sim B \mid L$	
Geographic Distance	$G \sim D$	$G \sim L \mid D$
	$G \sim D B$	$G \sim B \mid D$
	$G \sim D \mid L$	
Landscape Resistance	$G \sim L$	$G \sim B \mid L$
_	$G \sim L \mid D$	$G \sim D \mid L$
	$G \sim L \mid B$	

Table 7: Pairwise Fst (measure of genetic divergence) of *Martes americana* population genetic data by mountain range in the IPNF.

Purcell	Cabinet	Selkirk	
0.000			Purcell
0.016	0.000		Cabinet
0.033	0.025	0.000	Selkirk

Table 8: Results of models testing the hypotheses of Isolation by barrier and Isolation by distance using Mantel tests and partial Mantel tests. G = Genetic Distance, D = Geographic Distance (Euclidean), and B = Barrier. Mantel's r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values are given (significance level based on p< 0.05).

<u>Model</u>	<u>Test</u>	<u>Mantel's r</u>	<u>p-value</u>
$G \sim D$	Mantel Test	0.1723	0.0001
$G \sim B$	Mantel Tests	0.1764	0.0001
$G \sim D \mid B$	Partial Mantel Test	0.0527	0.0850
$\mathbf{G} \sim \mathbf{B} \mid \mathbf{D}$	Partial Mantel Test	0.0652	0.0393

Table 9: Results of the factorial elevation and standard deviation models used to predict genetic structure of *Martes americana* with respect to landscape resistance. A factorial combination of all elevations and all s.d.'s were used, yielding 72 total elevation models. The highest ranked elevation model was then used in factorial landscape resistance modeling. Mantel's r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values are given (significance level based on p< 0.05).

	Elevation Model	<u>Mantel's r</u>	<u>p-value</u>
1	G ~ Elev 1600m, s.d. 600m	0.201994	0.0001
2	G ~ Elev 1600m, s.d. 500m	0.201848	0.0001
3	G ~ Elev 1200m, s.d. 700m	0.198118	0.0001
4	G ~ Elev 1900m, s.d. 300m	0.188759	0.0001
5	G ~ Elev 2000m, s.d. 300m	0.186804	0.0001
6	G ~ Elev 1800m, s.d. 300m	0.186593	0.0001
7	G ~ Elev 2000m, s.d. 400m	0.183540	0.0001
8	G ~ Elev 1900m, s.d. 400m	0.181351	0.0001
9	G ~ Elev 1700m, s.d. 300m	0.180296	0.0001
10	G ~ Elev 1200m, s.d. 300m	0.178616	0.0001
11	G ~ Elev 2000m, s.d. 500m	0.178377	0.0001
12	G ~ Elev 1800m, s.d. 400m	0.177807	0.0001
13	G ~ Elev 1900m, s.d. 500m	0.175972	0.0001
14	G ~ Elev 1200m, s.d. 500m	0.175854	0.0001
15	G ~ Elev 1200m, s.d. 400m	0.175022	0.0001
16	G ~ Elev 2000m, s.d. 1000m	0.174632	0.0001
17	G ~ Elev 1900m, s.d. 1000m	0.174630	0.0001
18	G ~ Elev 1600m, s.d. 1000m	0.174549	0.0001
19	G ~ Elev 1800m, s.d. 1000m	0.174530	0.0001
20	G ~ Elev 1700m, s.d. 1000m	0.174296	0.0001
21	G ~ Elev 2000m, s.d. 900m	0.174262	0.0001
22	G ~ Elev 2000m, s.d. 700m	0.174196	0.0001
23	G ~ Elev 1900m, s.d. 900m	0.174061	0.0001
24	G ~ Elev 1800m, s.d. 900m	0.174037	0.0001
25	G ~ Elev 2000m, s.d. 800m	0.173984	0.0001
26	G ~ Elev 1600m, s.d. 900m	0.173919	0.0001
27	G ~ Elev 1900m, s.d. 600m	0.173907	0.0001
28	G ~ Elev 2000m, s.d. 600m	0.173907	0.0001
29	G ~ Elev 1900m, s.d. 800m	0.173652	0.0001
30	G ~ Elev 1500m, s.d. 1000m	0.173586	0.0001
31	G ~ Elev 1700m, s.d. 900m	0.173574	0.0001
32	G ~ Elev 1800m, s.d. 500m	0.173381	0.0001
33	G ~ Elev 1800m, s.d. 800m	0.173347	0.0001

34	G ~ Elev 1700m, s.d. 400m	0.173162	0.0001
35	G ~ Elev 1900m, s.d. 700m	0.173116	0.0001
36	G ~ Elev 1600m, s.d. 800m	0.173072	0.0001
37	G ~ Elev 1500m, s.d. 900m	0.172968	0.0001
38	G ~ Elev 1700m, s.d. 800m	0.172856	0.0001
39	G ~ Elev 1800m, s.d. 700m	0.172485	0.0001
40	G ~ Elev 1200m, s.d. 600m	0.172381	0.0001
41	G ~ Elev 1500m, s.d. 800m	0.172123	0.0001
42	G ~ Elev 1800m, s.d. 600m	0.172018	0.0001
43	G ~ Elev 1700m, s.d. 700m	0.171707	0.0001
44	G ~ Elev 1600m, s.d. 700m	0.171702	0.0001
45	G ~ Elev 1500m, s.d. 700m	0.170881	0.0001
46	G ~ Elev 1200m, s.d. 800m	0.170793	0.0001
47	G ~ Elev 1200m, s.d. 900m	0.170462	0.0001
48	G ~ Elev 1200m, s.d. 1000m	0.170311	0.0001
49	G ~ Elev 1700m, s.d. 600m	0.170163	0.0001
50	G ~ Elev 1700m, s.d. 500m	0.170061	0.0001
51	G ~ Elev 1600m, s.d. 300m	0.169243	0.0001
52	G ~ Elev 1500m, s.d. 600m	0.168983	0.0001
53	G ~ Elev 1400m, s.d. 1000m	0.167346	0.0001
54	G ~ Elev 1400m, s.d. 900m	0.167170	0.0001
55	G ~ Elev 1400m, s.d. 800m	0.166890	0.0001
56	G ~ Elev 1300m, s.d. 1000m	0.166809	0.0001
57	G ~ Elev 1300m, s.d. 900m	0.166650	0.0001
58	G ~ Elev 1400m, s.d. 700m	0.166484	0.0001
59	G ~ Elev 1300m, s.d. 800m	0.166399	0.0001
60	G ~ Elev 1300m, s.d. 700m	0.166045	0.0001
61	G ~ Elev 1500m, s.d. 500m	0.165725	0.0001
62	G ~ Elev 1600m, s.d. 400m	0.165671	0.0001
63	G ~ Elev 1400m, s.d. 600m	0.165641	0.0001
64	G ~ Elev 1300m, s.d. 600m	0.165407	0.0001
65	G ~ Elev 1300m, s.d. 500m	0.164063	0.0001
66	G ~ Elev 1400m, s.d. 500m	0.163850	0.0001
67	G ~ Elev 1500m, s.d. 300m	0.161654	0.0001
68	G ~ Elev 1500m, s.d. 400m	0.161045	0.0001
69	G ~ Elev 1400m, s.d. 400m	0.160351	0.0001
70	G ~ Elev 1300m, s.d. 400m	0.159973	0.0001
71	G ~ Elev 1400m, s.d. 300m	0.157814	0.0001
72	G ~ Elev 1300m, s.d. 300m	0.156642	0.0001

Table 10: Mantel test results models of DBH, Percent Canopy Cover, and Roads. Output is shown with Mantel's r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values (significance level based on p < 0.05). The most supported model is marked by ***. Highest ranked scale of each variable was used for landscape resistance modeling. G = Genetic Distance.

DBH Functions

	<u>Model</u>	<u>Mantel's r</u>	<u>p-value</u>
1	$G \sim DBH \; L$	0.1779644	0.0001
2	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd}$	0.1828082	0.0001 ***
3	$G \sim DBH \ 3^{rd}$	0.1783192	0.0001
4	$G \sim DBH \; 4^{th}$	0.1767269	0.0001
5	G ~ DBH 0.2	0.1782551	0.0001
6	$G \sim DBH \ 0.4$	0.1756273	0.0001
7	G ~ DBH 0.6	0.1760266	0.0001
8	G ~ DBH 0.8	0.1771870	0.0001

Canopy Functions

	Model	<u>Mantel's r</u>	<u>p-value</u>			
9	G ~ Canopy L	0.1798701	0.0001 ***			
10	$G \sim Canopy 2^{nd}$	0.1750581	0.0001			
11	$G \sim Canopy 3^{rd}$	0.1738078	0.0001			
12	$G \sim Canopy 4^{th}$	0.1739953	0.0001			
13	G ~ Canopy 0.2	0.1759872	0.0001			
14	G ~ Canopy 0.4	0.1771973	0.0001			
15	G ~ Canopy 0.6	0.1686271	0.0001			
16	G ~ Canopy 0.8	0.1710050	0.0001			
Road Function						
17	G ~ Roads	0.1353347	0.0001 ***			

DBH = Diameter at Breast Height, Canopy = Percent Canopy Cover, L=Linear, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6 are power functions, Barrier = Mountain range as a barrier, and Euclidean = Euclidean Distance.

Table 11: Partial Mantel test results of models of DBH, Percent Canopy Cover, Roads, and most highly supported model of Elevation. Output is shown with Mantel's r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values (significance level based on p < 0.05). G = Genetic Distance.

	Model	<u>Mantel's r</u>	<u>p-value</u>
1	$G \sim Elev1600m \mid Barrier$	0.0999138	0.0132
2	$G \sim Elev1600m \mid Euclidean$	0.1202238	0.0007
3	G ~ DBH 2nd Barrier	0.0673110	0.0281
4	G ~ DBH 2nd Euclidean	0.0665662	0.0288
5	G ~ Canopy L Barrier	0.0751876	0.0367
6	G ~ Canopy L Euclidean	0.0524324	0.0949
7	G ~ Roads Barrier	0.0415319	0.1493
8	$G \sim Roads \mid Euclidean$	0.0229962	0.2903

DBH = Diameter at Breast Height, Canopy = Percent Canopy Cover, L=Linear, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6 are power functions, Barrier = Mountain range as a barrier, and Euclidean = Euclidean Distance.

	<u>Model</u>
1	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd}$
2	$G \sim Canopy L$
3	$G \sim Elev 1600m$
4	G ~ Roads
5	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads$
6	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L$
7	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads + Elev1600m$
8	$G \sim Roads + Elev1600m$
9	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads$
10	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Elev1600m$
11	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m$
12	$G \sim Canopy L + DBH 2^{nd} + Elev1600m$
13	$G \sim Canopy L + Roads$
14	$G \sim Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m$
15	$G \sim Canopy L + Elev1600m$
16	$G \sim Roads + Elev1600m Barrier$
17	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads Barrier$
18	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads + Elev1600m Barrier$
19	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L \mid Barrier$
20	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Elev 1600 Barrier$
21	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads Barrier$
22	$G \sim Canopy L + DBH 2nd + Elev1600m Barrier$
23	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m Barrier$
24	$G \sim Canopy L + Roads Barrier$
25	$G \sim Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m Barrier$
26	$G \sim Canopy L + Elev1600m Barrier$
27	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads Euclidean$
28	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L $ Euclidean
29	$G \sim Roads + Elev1600m \mid Euclidean$
30	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads + Elev1600m Euclidean$
31	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads Euclidean$

Table 12: Factorial Landscape Resistance models used to model the full factorial of resistance to gene flow in *Martes americana*. G = Genetic Distance.

- $G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m | Euclidean$
- $G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Elev1600 | Euclidean$
- $G \sim \text{Canopy L} + \text{DBH 2}^{nd} + \text{Elev1600m} | \text{Euclidean}$
- $G \sim Canopy L + Roads | Euclidean$
- $G \sim \text{Canopy L} + \text{Roads} + \text{Elev1600m} | \text{Euclidean}$
- $G \sim \text{Canopy L} + \text{Elev1600m} \mid \text{Euclidean}$

DBH = Diameter at Breast Height, Canopy = Percent Canopy Cover, L=Linear, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6 are power functions, Barrier = Mountain range as a barrier, and Euclidean = Euclidean Distance.

Table 13: Results of the factorial landscape resistance models used to model the full
factorial of resistance to gene flow in Martes americana. Results are ranked by Mantel's
r and corresponding Monte-Carlo p-values (significance level based on $p < 0.05$). G =
Genetic Distance (Dashed line represents end of 95% confidence interval).

	Model	<u>Mantel's r</u>	<u>p-value</u>
1	$G \sim Elev 1600m$	0.201994	0.0001
2	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd}$	0.182808	0.0001
3	$G \sim Canopy L$	0.179870	0.0001
4	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads$	0.173835	0.0001
5	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L$	0.173444	0.0001
6	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads + Elev1600m$	0.172658	0.0001
7	$G \sim Roads + Elev1600m$	0.172606	0.0001
8	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads$	0.172246	0.0001
9	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Elev1600m$	0.171844	0.0001
10	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m$	0.171546	0.0001
11	$G \sim Canopy L + DBH2nd + Elev1600m$	0.171322	0.0001
12	$G \sim Canopy L + Roads$	0.170885	0.0001
13	$G \sim Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m$	0.170098	0.0001
14	G ~ Canopy L + Elev1600m	0.168918	0.0001
15	G ~ Roads	0.135335	0.0001
16	G ~ Roads + Elev1600m Barrier	0.052649	0.09681
17	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads Barrier$	0.051120	0.10001
18	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads + Elev1600m Barrier$	0.050853	0.10191
19	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L Barrier$	0.050602	0.10111
20	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Elev1600 Barrier$	0.050210	0.10081
21	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads Barrier$	0.048194	0.11511
22	$G \sim Canopy L + DBH 2^{nd} + Elev 1600m Barrier$	0.048063	0.11271
23	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m Barrier$	0.047981	0.10861
24	G ~ Canopy L + Roads Barrier	0.046255	0.11761
25	$G \sim Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m Barrier$	0.046062	0.12611
26	G ~ Canopy L + Elev1600m Barrier	0.04502	0.12781
27	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads Euclidean$	0.023370	0.24793
28	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L Euclidean$	0.020791	0.25763
29	$G \sim Roads + Elev1600m Euclidean$	0.011665	0.31423

30	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Roads + Elev1600m Euclidean$	0.010858	0.36404
31	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads Euclidean$	0.010113	0.37524
32	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m Euclidean$	0.000141	0.49325
33	$G \sim DBH 2^{nd} + Elev1600 Euclidean$	-0.000233	0.49775
34	$G \sim Canopy L + DBH 2^{nd} + Elev1600m Euclidean$	-0.000562	0.51095
35	$G \sim Canopy L + Roads Euclidean$	-0.004371	0.54666
36	$G \sim Canopy L + Roads + Elev1600m Euclidean$	-0.022499	0.75958
37	$G \sim Canopy L + Elev1600m Euclidean$	-0.037270	0.87599

DBH = Diameter at Breast Height, Canopy = Percent Canopy Cover, L=Linear, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6 are power functions, Barrier = Mountain range as a barrier, and Euclidean = Euclidean Distance.

Table 14: Correlation between genetic distance and models of landscape resistance, barrier, and geographic distance of *Martes americana* in Northern Idaho. Results are based on 10,000 permutations. Mantel's r and corresponding p-values are given (significance level based on p < 0.05).

Model	Mantel's r	Monte-Carlo p-value	
Landscape Resistance	0.20199	0.0001	
Barrier	0.1764	0.0001	
Distance	0.1723	0.0001	

Table 15: Causal modeling and diagnostic expectations results for partial Mantel tests, which allow for the rejection of incorrect causal explanations of genetic patterns. G = matrix of pair-wise genetic dissimilarity; B = model matrix separating individuals among the three mountain ranges; D = matrix of pair-wise Euclidean distance among sampled individuals; L = matrix of pair-wise cost distance among sampled individuals for a landscape resistance hypothesis. $G \sim B$ indicates a Mantel test between genetic dissimilarity and the Barrier model matrix; $G \sim B|D$ indicates a partial Mantel test between genetic dissimilarity and the Barrier model matrix, while partialling out the effects of Euclidean distance among sampled individuals.

Hypothesis	Expec <u>Positi</u>	cted Signi <u>ve Correl</u> Mantel r	ficant <u>ations</u> p-value		Expecto <u>(</u>	ed Non-sign Correlations Mantel r	ificant <i>p-value</i>	
Barrier	$G \sim B$	0.1764	0.0001	Yes	$G \sim L \mid B$	0.0999	0.0132*	No
	$G \sim B \mid D$	0.0652	0.0393	Yes	$G \sim D \mid B$	0.0527	0.0850	Yes
	$G \sim B \mid L$	-0.0016	0.5189*	No				
Geographic Distance	G ~ D	0.1723	0.0001	Yes	$G \sim L \mid D$	0.1202	0.0007*	No
	$G \sim D \mid B$	0.0527	0.0850*	No	$G \sim B \mid D$	0.0652	0.0393*	No
	$G \sim D \ L$	-0.552	0.9211*	No				
Landscape Resistance	G~L	0.20199	0.0001	Yes	$G \sim B \mid L$	-0.0016	0.5189	Yes
	$G \sim L \mid D$	0.12022	0.0007	Yes	$G \sim D \mid L$	-0.552	0.9211	Yes
	$G \sim L \mid B$	0.0999	0.0132	Yes				



Figure 1: Conceptual models of hypotheses that structure *Martes Americana* populations in the IPNF. Model 1 is Isolation By Geographic Distance, Model 2 is Isolation By Barrier, and Model 3 is Isolation By Landscape Resistance.



Figure 2: View of study area located in northern Idaho highlighting the spatial location of the Selkirk, Purcell, and Cabinet mountain ranges in relation to each other as well as the Kootenai River Valley. Locations of all survey sites are also shown.



Figure 3: Power fitted functions for percent canopy cover as related to resistance value on the landscape resistance map. Power functions are at 8 different scales: linear, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} , and 4^{th} power.



Figure 4: Power fitted functions for forest class based on 5 different classes, as related to resistance value on the landscape resistance map. Power functions are at 8 different scales: linear, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th power.



Figure 5: Results of PCA performed on all genetic samples collected in the IPNF and their corresponding location in the landscape based on UTM coordinates. Results indicate that there is little obvious genetic substructure of this population within the IPNF. This population may be best represented as a "genetic gradient" across the landscape rather than a discrete population.



Figure 6: Digital Elevation Model (DEM) of elevation across the entire study area of the Idaho Panhandle National Forest in northern Idaho. Dark shaded area represent areas of low elevation while light areas represent high elevation.



Figure 7: Visualization of the most supported model of landscape resistance, Elevation 1600m s.d. 600m (Table 13). This model depicts gene flow in the IPNF is strongly related to elevation, with movement facilitated at an optimum elevation of 1600m s.d. 600m. Dark areas represent low resistance to movement, while light areas represent high resistance to movement in relation to elevation across this landscape.

REFERENCES

- Adler, F.R. and Nuernberger, B. 1994. Persistence in patchy irregular landscapes. Theoretical Population Biology 45: 41-75.
- Allendorf, F.W., and G. Luikart. 2007. Conservation and the genetics of populations. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK.
- Anderson, D. R., K. P. Burnham, W. L. Thompson. 2000. Null hypothesis testing: problems, prevalence, and an alternative. Journal of Wildlife Management 64(4): 912-923.
- Anderson, D. R., W. A. Link, D. H. Johnson, and K. P. Burnham. 2001. Suggestions for presenting the results of data analyses. Journal of Wildlife Management 65(3): 373-378.
- Andreassen, H.P., K. Hertzberg, and R.A. Ims. 1998. Space-use responses to habitat fragmentation and connectivity in the root vole *Microtus oeconomus*. Ecology 79:1223-1235.
- Andren, A. 1994. Effects of habitat fragmentation on birds and mammals in landscapes with different proportions of suitable habitat: a review. Oikos 71: 355-366.
- Arnold, G.W., D.E. Steven, and J.R. Weeldenburg. 1993. Influences of remnant size, spacing pattern and connectivity on population boundaries and demography in euros *Macropus robustus* living in a fragmented landscape. Biological Conservation, 64: 219-230.
- Baker, J.M. 1992. Habitat use and spatial organization of pine marten on southern Vancouver Island, British Columbia. Burnaby, British Columbia: Simon Frasier University. M.S. thesis. 119 p.
- Bateman, M. C. 1986. Winter habitat use, food habits and home range size of the marten, *Martes americana*, in Western Newfoundland. Canadian Field-Naturalist 100(1): 58-62.
- Bergerud, A. T. 1969. The status of pine marten in Newfoundland. Canadian Field Naturalist 83:128-131.
- Beven, K. J. and M. J. Kirkby. 1979. A physically based, variable contributing area model of basin hydrology. Hydrological Scientific Bulletin 24:43–69.
- Bissonette, J.A., R.J. Fredrickson, and B.J. Tucker. 1989. American marten: a case for landscape-level management. Transactions of the North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference 54: 89-101.

- Bissonette, J.A., D.J. Harrison, C.D. Hargis, and T.G. Chapin. 1997. The influence of spatial scale and scale-sensitive properties on habitat selection by American marten. Pages 368-385 in J.A. Bissonette, ed., Wildlife and Landscape Ecology. Springer-Verlag, NY. 368-385.
- Broquet, T., C.A. Johnson, E. Petit, I. Thompson , S. F. Burel, and J.M. Fryxell. 2006. Dispersal and genetic structure in the American marten, *Martes americana*. Molecular Ecology 15:1689-1697.
- Broquet, T., N. Ray, E. Petit, J.M. Fryxell, and F. Burel. 2006. Genetic isolation by distance and landscape connectivity in the American marten (*Martes americana*). Landscape Ecology 21: 877-889.
- Bull, E. L. and T. W. Heater. 2000. Resting and denning sites of American martens in northeastern Oregon. Northwest Science, 74(3): 179-185.
- Burnham, K. P. and D. R. Anderson. 1998. Model selection and inference: an information theoretic approach. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Burnham, K. P. and D. R. Anderson. 2002. Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. 2nd Edition. Springer-Verlag, New York, New York, USA. 488 pp.
- Buskirk, S.W. 1984. Seasonal use of resting sites by marten in southcentral Alaska. Journal of Wildlife Management 48:(3) 950-953.
- Buskirk, S.W. and L.L. McDonald. 1989. Analysis of variability in home-range size of the American marten. Journal of Wildlife Management 53: 997-1004.
- Buskirk, S.W. and R. A. Powell. 1994. Habitat ecology of fishers and American martens. Martens, sables, and fishers. S. W. Buskirk, A. S. Harestad, M. G. Raphael and R. A. Powell. Ithaca, NY, Comstock Publishing Associates, Cornell University Press: 283-296 p.
- Buskirk, S.W. and L. F. Ruggiero. 1994. The American marten. Ruggiero, L.F., K.B. Aubry, S.W. Buskirk, L.J. Lyon, and W.J. Zielinski, (eds.), American marten, fisher, lynx, and wolverine in the western United States. General Technical Report, RM-254. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- Campbell, T. M. 1979. Short-term effects of timber harvests on pine marten ecology. M.S. thesis. Colorado State University, Ft. Collins. 71 p.
- Carroll, C., W. J. Zielinski, and R.F. Noss. 1999. Using presence-absence data to build and test spatial habitat models for the fisher in the Klamath Region, U.S.A. Conservation Biology 13(6): 1344-1359.

- Chapin, T. G. 1995. Influence of landscape pattern and forest type on use of habitat by marten in Maine. M.S. thesis. University of Maine, Orono. 100 p.
- Chapin, T.G., Harrison D.J. and Phillips, D.M. 1997. Seasonal habitat selection by marten in an untrapped forest preserve. Journal of Wildlife Management 61: 707-717.
- Chapin, T. G., D. J. Harrison, and D. D. Katnik. 1998. Influence of landscape pattern on habitat use by American marten in an industrial forest. Conservation Biology 12:96-227.
- Copeland, J. P., J.M. Peek, C. R. Groves, W.E. Melquist, K.S. McKelvey, G. W. McDaniel, C.D. Long, and C.M. Harris. 2007. Seasonal Habitat Associations of the Wolverine in central Idaho. Journal of Wildlife Management 71(7):2201-2212.
- Corbet, G.B. and J.E. Hill 1986. A world list of mammalian species. London: Facts on file. 254p.
- Coulon A., J. F. Cosson, J.M. Angibault, B. Cargnelutti, M. Galan, N. Morellet, E. Petit, S. Aulagnier, and J. M. Hewison. 2004. Landscape connectivity influences gene flow in a roe deer population inhabiting a fragmented landscape: an individualbased approach. Molecular Ecology 13, 2841–2850.
- Coulon A., G. Guillot, J.F. Cosson, J.M. A. Angibault, S. Aulagnier, B. Cargnelutti, M. Galan, and A.J.M. Hewison. 2006. Genetic structure is influenced by landscape features: empirical evidence from a roe deer population. Molecular Ecology 15:1669-1679.
- Cushman, S.A. and K. McGarigal. 2004. Patterns in the species-environment relationship depend on both scale and choice of response variables. Oikos 105: 117-124.
- Cushman, S.A. 2006. Implications of habitat loss and fragmentation for the conservation of pond breeding amphibians: a review and prospectus. Biological Conservation 128: 231-240.
- Cushman S.A., K.S. McKelvey, J. Hayden, and M.K. Schwartz. 2006. Gene-flow in complex landscapes: confronting models with data. American Naturalist 168: 486-499.
- Cushman, S.A, D. McKenzie, D.L. Peterson, J. Littell, and K.S. McKelvey. 2007. Research agenda for integrated landscape modeling. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-194.

- Danielson, B.J., and M.W. Hubbard. 2000. The influence of corridors on movement behavior of *Peromyscus polionotus* in experimental landscapes. Landscape Ecology 15:323-331.
- de Vos, A. 1951. Overflow and dispersal of marten and fisher from wildlife refuges. Journal of Wildlife Management 15: 164-175.
- Doak, D.F., P.C. Marino, and P.M. Kareiva. 1992. Spatial scale mediates the influence of habitat fragmentation on dispersal success: implications for conservation. Theoretical Population Biology 41: 315-336.
- Drew, G. S. 1995. Winter habitat selection by American marten (*Martes americana*) in Newfoundland: Why old growth? Ph.D. Dissertation, Utah State University, Logan. 83 p.
- Epps, CW., P.J. Palsboll, G.K. Wehausen, R.R. Roderick, R. Ramey II, D.R. McCullough. 2005. Highways block gene flow and cause rapid decline in genetic diversity of desert bighorn sheep. Ecological Letters 8:1029-1038.
- ESRI. 2003. ArcGIS. Environmental Systems Research Incorporated, Redlands, CA.
- Evett, I.W. and B.S. Weir. 1998. Interpreting DNA evidence. Sinauer, Sunderland, MA.
- Fager, C. W. 1991. Harvest dynamics and winter habitat use of the pine marten in southwest Montana. M.S. thesis, Montana State University, Bozeman. 73 p.
- Fahrig, L. and G. Merriam. 1985. Habitat patch connectivity and population survival. Ecology 66: 1762-1768.
- Fahrig, L. 1997. Relative effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on population extinction. Journal of Wildlife Management 61: 603-610.
- Fahrig, L. 1998. When does fragmentation of breeding habitat affect population survival? Ecological Modeling 105: 273-292.
- Fahrig, L. 2002. Effect of habitat fragmentation on the extinction threshold: a synthesis. Ecological Applications 12: 346-353.
- Frankham R, J. D. Ballou, and D.A. Briscoe. 2002. Introduction to conservation genetics. Cambridge University Press.
- Franklin, J.F. and R.T.T. Forman. 1987. Creating landscape patterns by forest cutting: ecological consequences and principles. Landscape Ecology 1:5-18.

- Fredrickson, R.J. 1990. The effects of disease, prey fluctuation, and clearcutting on American marten in Newfoundland, Canada. M.S. thesis. Utah State University, Logan. 76 p.
- Gerlach, G. and K. Musolf. 2000. Fragmentation of landscape as a cause for genetic subdivision in bank voles. Conservation Biology 14: 1066-1074.
- Gibbs, J.P. 2001. Demography versus habitat fragmentation as determinants of genetic variation in wild populations. Biological Conservation 100: 15-20.
- Giblisco, C. J. 1994. Distributional dynamics of modern *Martes* in North America. In: Buskirk et al. (eds) Martens, Sables, and Fishers: Biology and Conservation. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. 484 p.
- Gilbert, J. H., J. L. Wright, D. J. Lauten, and J. R. Probst. 1997. Den and rest-site characteristics of American marten and fisher in Northern Wisconsin. In: Proulx, G., H. N. Bryant, and P. M. Woodard (eds). *Martes*: taxonomy, ecology, techniques, and management. Provincial Museum of Alberta, Edmington, Alberta, Canada. Pages 135-145.
- Grand, J., J. Buonaccorsi, S.A. Cushman, C.R. Griffin, and M.C. Neel. 2004. A multiscale landscape approach to predicting bird and moth rarity hotspots in a threatened pitch pine-scrub oak community. Conservation Biology 18(4): 1063-1077.
- Guthery, F.S., L.A. Brennan, M.J. Peterson and J. J.Lusk. 2005. Invited paper: Information theory in wildlife science: critique and viewpoint. Journal of Wildlife Management. 69: 457–465.
- Hall, E. R. 1981. The mammals of North America. 2nd ed. New York: John Wiley and Sons. 1181 p.
- Hargis, C. D. 1996. The influence of forest fragmentation and landscape pattern on American marten and their prey. Ph. D. dissertation. Utah State University, Logan.
- Hargis, C. D., J. A. Bissonette, and D. L. Turner. 1999. The influence of forest fragmentation and landscape pattern on American martens. Journal of Applied Ecology 36: 157-172.
- Harris, L. D. 1994. The fragmented forest. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Il. 211p.
- Hawley, V.D. and F. E. Newby. 1957. Marten home ranges and population fluctuations in Montana. Journal of Mammalogy. 38:174-184.

- Hayes, J. P. and S. P. Cross. 1987. Characteristics of logs used by western red-backed voles, *Clethrionomys californicus*, and deer mice, *Peromyscus maniculatus*. Canadian Field-Naturalist. 101: 543-546.
- Holderegger, R. and H.H. Wagner. 2006. A brief guide to landscape genetics. Landscape Ecology 21:793-796.
- Hosmer, D.W. and S. Lemeshow. 2000. Applied Logistic Regression. Second Edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York, NY.Ecology, 36:157-172.
- Hutchinson, G.E. 1957. Concluding remarks. Cold Springs harbor Symposium on Quantitative Biology 22:415-427.
- Idaho Department of Lands. 2006. GIS Department for IDL. Online GIS layers for IDL. Available at http://gis1.idl.idaho.gov/index.htm
- Johnson, D. H. 1980. The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology 61: 65-71.
- Johnson, J.B. and K.S. Omland. 2004. Model selection in ecology and evolution. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 19.101-108.
- Kareiva, P. and U. Wennergren. 1995. Connecting landscape patterns to ecosystem and population process. Nature 373: 299-302.
- Katnick, D. D. 1992. Spatial use, territoriality, and summer-autumn selection of habitat in an intensively harvested population of martens on commercial forestland in Maine. M.S. thesis. University of Maine, Orono. 137 p.
- Katnik, D. D., D. J. Harrison, and T. P. Hodgman. 1994. Spatial relations in a harvested population of marten in Maine. Journal of Wildlife Management 58(4): 600-607.
- King, A.W. and K.A. With. 2002. Dispersal success on spatially structured landscapes: when do spatial pattern and dispersal behavior really matter? Ecological Modeling 147: 23-39.
- Koehler, G. M., W.R. Moore, and A.R. Taylor. 1975. Preserving the pine marten: management guidelines for western forests. Western Wildlands. 2: 31-36.
- Koehler, G. H. and M. G. Hornocker. 1977. Fire effects on marten habitat in the Selway-Bitteroot Wilderness. Journal of Wildlife Management. 41: 500-505.
- Kotliar, N. B. and J. A. Wiens. 1990. Multiple scales of patchiness and patch structure: a hierarchical framework for the study of heterogeneity. Oikos 59: 253-260.

- Krohn, W.B., K. D. Elowe, and R. B. Boone. 1995. Relations among fishers, snow, and martens: Development and evaluation of two hypothesis. Forestry Chronicle 71(1) 97-105.
- Kyle C.J., C.S. Davis, and C. Strobeck. 2000. Microsatellite analysis of North American pine marten (*Martes americana*) populations from the Yukon and Northwest Territories. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 78, 1150–1157.
- Kyle C.J., and C. Strobeck. 2003. Genetic homogeneity of Canadian mainland marten populations underscores the disctinctiveness of Newfoundland pine martens (*Martes americana atrata*). Canadian Journal of Zoology, 81, 57–66.
- Lamberson, R.H., R.B. McKelvey, R. Noon, and C. Voss. 1992. A dynamic analysis of northern spotted owl viability in a fragmented forest landscape. Conservation Biology 6: 505-512.
- Lamberson, R.H., B.R. Noon, C. Voss, and K.S. McKelvey. 1994. Reserve design for territorial species: the effects of patch size and spacing on the viability of the northern spotted owl. Conservation Biology 8: 185-195.
- Legendre, P. and M. Troussellier. 1988. Aquatic heterotrophic bacteria:modeling in the presence of spatial autocorrelation. Limnologyand Oceanography 33:1055–1067.
- Legendre, P., and L. Legendre. 1998. Numerical ecology. 2nd English ed. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Legendre, P., M.R.T. Dale, M.J. Fortin, J. Gurevitch, M. Hohn, and D. Meyers. 2002. The consequences of spatial structure for the design and analysis of ecological field surveys. Ecography 25:601-615.
- Lensink, C. J., R. O. Skoog, and J. L. Buckley. 1955. Food habits of marten in interior Alaska and their significance. Journal of Wildlife Management 19: 364-368.
- Levin, S.A. 1992. The problem of pattern and scale in ecology. Ecology 73(6): 1943-1967.
- Lindstedt, S.L., Miller, B.J. and Buskirk, S.W. 1986. Home range, time, and body size in mammals. Ecology 67: 413-418.
- Livitalis, J.A., K. Titus, E.M. Anerson. 1994. Measuring vertebrate use of terrestrial habits and foods. In: Bookhout, T.a. (Ed.), Research and Management Techniques for Wildlife and Habitats, 5th ed. The Wildlife Society, Bethesda, MD, USA, pp.254-270.
- Magoun, A. J. and D. J. Vernam. 1986. An evaluation of the Bear Creek burn as marten (Martes americana) habitat in interior Alaska. Unpublished report. Fairbanks, AK:

U.S. Department of Interior, Bureau of Land Management, Special Project AK-950-CAH-0. 58 p.

- Manel, S., Schwartz, M.K., Luikart, G., Taberlet, P. 2003. Landscape genetics: combining landscape ecology and population genetics. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 18(4) 189-197.
- Manel, S., F. Berthoud, E. Bellemain, M. Gaudeil, G. Luikart, J.E. Swenson, L.P. Waits, P. Taberlet, and INTRABIODIV CONSORTIUM. A new individual-based spatial approach for identifying genetic continuities in natural populations. 2007. Molecular Ecology.
- Mantel, N. 1967. The detection of disease clustering and a generalized regression approach. Cancer Research 27:209–220.
- Marshall, W. H. 1946. Winter food habits of the pine marten in Montana. Journal of Mammalogy 27: 83-84.
- Martin, S. K. 1994. Feeding ecology of American martens and fishers. In: Martens, sables, and fishers. S. W. Buskirk, A. S. Harestad, M. G. Raphael and R. A. Powell (eds.). Ithaca, NY, Comstock Publishing Associates, Cornell University Press: 297-315.
- McGarigal, K., S. A. Cushman, M. C. Neel, and E. Ene. 2002. FRAGSTATS: Spatial Pattern Analysis Program for Categorical Maps. Computer software program produced by the authors at the University of Massachusetts, Amherst. Available at www.umass.edu/landeco/research/fragstats/fragstats.html.
- McGarigal, K. and S.A. Cushman. 2002. Comparative evaluation of experimental approaches to the study of habitat fragmentation effects. Ecological Applications 12:335-345.
- Mech, L.D and L.L. Rogers 1977. Status, Distribution and movements of martens in northeastern innesota. Res. Pap. NE-143. Radnor, PA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Northern Forest Experiment Station. 7p.
- Mills, L.S., K. Pilgrim, M.K. Schwartz, and K. McKelvey. 2001. Identifying lynx and other North American felids based on MtDNA analysis. Conservation Genetics 1: 285–288.
- Minnesota Trapline Products. 2006. Online supplier of a variety of calling supplies, animal control traps, hunting bait, lures, trapping devices etc. Available at http://www.minntrapprod.com.
- Mowat, G. 2006. Winter habitat associations of American martens *Martes Americana* in interior wet-belt forests. Wildlife Biology 12:51-56.

- NatureServe. 2008. NatureServe Explorer: An online encyclopedia of life [web application]. Version 7.0. NatureServe, Arlington, Virginia. Available http://www.natureserve.org/explorer.
- Nei, M., T. Marayama, and R. Chakraborty. 1975. The bottleneck effect and genetic variability on populations. Evolution 29:1-10.
- Nei, M. 1987 Molecular Evolutionary Genetics. Columbia University Press, New York.
- Pearce, J., S. and S. Ferrier. 2000. Evaluating the predictive performance of habitat models developed using logistic regression. Ecological Modeling 133:225-245.
- Phillips, D. M. 1994. Social and spatial characteristics, and dispersal of marten in a forest preserve and industrial forest. M.S. thesis. University of Maine, Orono. 112 p.
- Potvin, F., L. Belanger, and K. Lowell. 1999. Marten habitat selection in a clearcut boreal landscape. Conservation Biology 14: 844-857.
- Powell, R.A. 1994. Structure and spacing of *Martes* populations. in Martens, Sables, and Fishers: Biology and Conservation, pp.101-121. Edited by S.W. Buskirk, A.S. Harestad, M.G. Raphael and R.A. Powell. Cornell University Press: Ithaca, NY.
- Pritchard, J.K., P. Stephens, and P. Donnelly. 2000. Inference of population genetic structure using multilocus genetype data. Genetics 155:945-959.
- Pulliam, H.R., J.B.Dunning Jr. and J. Liu. 1992. Population dynamics in complex landscapes: a case study. Ecological Applications 2: 165-177.
- Raphael, M. G. 1989. Habitat associations of small mammals in a subalpine forest, southeastern Wyoming. In: Szaro, R. C., K. E. Severson, D. R. Patton (tech. cords). Management of amphibians, reptile, and small mammals in North America. General Technical Report RM-166. Ft. Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. 359-367.
- Raphael, M. G. and L. C. Jones. 1997. Characteristics of resting and denning sites of American martens in Central Oregon and Western Washington. In: Proulx, G., H. N. Bryant, and P. M. Woodard (eds). Martes: taxonomy, ecology, techniques, and management. Provincial Museum of Alberta, Edmington, Alberta, Canada. Pages 146-165.
- Riddle, A., K.L. Pilgrim, L.S. Mills, K.S. McKelvey, and L. F. Ruggiero. 2003. Identification of mustelids using mitochondrial DNA and non-invasive sampling. Conservation Genetics 4:241-243.

Ritchie, M.E. 1997. Populations in a landscape context: sources, sinks, and

metapopulations. In: Bissonette, John A. (ed.). Wildlife and landscape ecology: effects of pattern and scale. Springer - Verlag, New York. 410 pp.

- Rousset, F. 1997. Genetics differentiation and estimation of gene flow from *F*-statistics under isolation by distance. Genetics 145:1219–1228.
- Rousset, F., 2000. Genetic differentiation between individuals. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 13:58–62.
- Rousset, F. 2001. Inferences from spatial population genetics. In: *Handbook of Statistical Genetics* (ed. Balding DJ), pp. 681–712. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Rousset, F., 2003 Effective size in simple metapopulation models. Heredity 91:107-111.
- Rousset, F., 2004 *Genetic Structure and Selection in Subdivided Populations*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Ruggiero, L. F., and D. E. Pearson 1998. Characteristics of American marten densites in Wyoming. Journal of Wildlife Management 62(2): 663-673.
- SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC. 2007. SAS Software Package. Available at http://www.sas.com. Copyright © 2007 SAS Institute Inc.
- Saunders, D.A., R.J. Hobbs, and C.R. Margules. 1991. Biological consequences of ecosystem fragmentation: a review. Conservation Biology 5: 18-32.
- Schwartz, M.K., L.S. Mills, K. McKelvey, L.S. Ruggiero, and F.W. Allendorf. 2002. DNA reveals high dispersal synchronizing the population dynamics of lynx. Nature 415: 520-522.
- Schwartz, M.K., S.A. Cushman, K.S. McKelvey, J. Hayden, and C. Enger. 2006. Detecting genotyping errors and describing American black bear movements in northern Idaho. Ursus 17(2): 138-148.
- Simon, T. L. 1980. An ecological study of the pine marten in the Tahoe National Forest. M.S. thesis. California State University, Sacramento, CA. 143 p.
- Slauson, K. M., W.J. Zelinski, and J. P. Hayes. 2001. Ecology of American martens in Coastal Northwestern California. Progress report of CA Dept. of Fish and Game, Oregon State University, Save the Redwoods League, and USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Redwood Sciences Laboratory. Arcata, CA.

- Slauson, K.M. 2003. Habitat selection by American martens (*Martes americana*) in Coastal Northwestern California. M.S. Thesis. Oregon State University, Corvallis. 128 pgs.
- Sloan, Brent et al. pers com 2006. M.Sc. Student Eastern Washington University. Pullman, WA.
- Slough, B. G. 1989. Movements and habitat use by transplanted marten in the Yukon territory. Journal of Wildlife Management 53(4): 991-997.
- Smouse, P. E., J. C. Long, and R. R. Sokal. 1986. Multiple regression and correlation extensions of the Mantel test of matrix correspondence. Systematic Zoology 35:627–632.
- Snyder, J. E. and J. A. Bissonette. 1987. Marten use of clear-cuttings and residual forest stands in western Newfoundland. Canadian Journal of Zoology 65: 169-174.
- Soutiere, E. C. 1979. Effects of timber harvesting on marten in Maine. Journal of Wildlife Management 43(4): 850-860.
- Spear, S.F., C.R. Peterson, M. Matacq, and A. Storfer. 2005. Landscape genetics of the blotched tiger salamander (*Ambystoma tigrinum melanostictum*). Molecular Ecology 14:2553-2564.
- Spencer, W. D., R. H. Barrett, and W.J. Zielinski. 1983. Marten habitat preferences in the northern Sierra Nevada. Journal Wildlife Management 47(4): 1181-1186.
- Stephens, P.A., S. W. Buskirk, G. D. Hayward, and C. Martinez Del Rio. 2005. Information theory and hypothesis testing: a call for pluralism, Journal of Animal Ecology 42: 4-12.
- Stevenson, J.D. and J. T. Major. 1982. Marten use of habitat in a commercially clear-cut forest. Journal of Wildlife Management 46: 175-182.
- Storfer, A., M.A. Murphy, J.S. Evans, C.S. Goldberg, S. Robinson, S.F. Spear, R. Dezzani, E. Delmelle, L. Vierling, and L.P. Waits. 2007. Putting the landscape in landscape genetics. Heredity 98:128-142.
- Taberlet, P., J. J. Camarra, S. Griffin, E. Uhrès, O. Hanotte, L. P. Waits, C. Dubois-Paganon, T. Burke, and J. Bouvet. 1997. Noninvasive genetic tracking of the endangered Pyrenean brown bear population. Molecular Ecology 6:869–876.
- Tallmon, D. and S. Mills. 1994. Use of logs within home ranges of California red-backed voles on a remnant of forest. Journal of Mammalogy 75(1): 97-101.
- Taylor, P.D., L. Fahrig, K. Henein, and G. Merriam. 1993. Connectivity is a vital element of landscape structure. Oikos 68: 571-573.

- Taylor, S. L. 1993. Thermodynamics and energetics of resting site use by the American marten (*Martes americana*). M.S. thesis. University of Wyoming, Laramie. 84 p.
- Tewksbury, J. J., D. J. Levey, N. M. Haddad, S. Sargent, J. L. Orrock, A. Weldon, B. J. Danielson, J. Brinkerhoff, E. I. Damschen, and P. Townsend. 2002. Corridors affect plants, animals, and their interactions in fragmented landscapes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA) 99:12923–12926
- Thomas, J.W., E.D. Forsman, J.B. Lint, E.C. Meslow, B.R. Noon, and Verner, J. 1990. A conservation strategy for the northern spotted owl. U.S. Forest Service and U.S. National Park Service, Portland, OR.
- Thompson, I.D. and P.W. Colgan. 1987. Numerical responses of martens to food a shortage in northcentral Ontario. Journal of Wildlife Management. 51: 824-835.
- Thompson, I.D. and A.S. Harestad. 1994. Effect of logging on American martens, and models for habitat management. In Martens, Sables, and Fishers: Biology and Conservation, pp.355-367. Edited by S.W. Buskirk, A.S. Harestad, M.G. Raphael and R.A. Powell. Cornell University Press: Ithaca, NY.
- Thompson, C.M. and K. McGarigal. 2002. The influence of research scale on bald eagle habitat selection along the lower Hudson River, New York (USA). Landscape Ecology 17: 569-586.
- Tomson, S.D. 1999. Ecology and Summer/Fall Habitat Selection of American Marten in Northern Idaho. M.S. Thesis. University of Montana, Missoula 80 pgs.
- Turner, M.G. 1989. Landscape ecology: the effect of pattern on process. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. 20: 171-197.
- Turner, M.G. and R.H. Gardner. 1991. *Quantitative Methods in Landscape Ecology*. Springer-Verlag. New york.
- Van Horn, R.C., A.L. Engh, K.T. Scribner, S.M. Funk, and K.E. Holekamp. 2004. Behavioral structuring of relatedness in the spotted hyena (*Crocuta crocuta*) suggests direct fitness benefits of clan-level cooperation. Molecular Ecology. 13:449-458.
- Vignieri, S.N. 2005. Streams over mountains: influence of riparian connectivity on gene flow in the Pacific jumping mouse (*Zapus trinotatus*). Molecular Ecology 14:1925-1937.
- Vitalis, R. and D. Couvet. 2001. Estimation of effective population size and migration rate from one- and two-locus identity measures, Genetics 157: 911-925.
- Vos, C.C., A.G. Antonisse-De Jong, P.W. Goedhart, and M.J.M. Smulders. 2001. Genetic similarity as a measure for connectivity between fragmented populations of the moor frog (*Rana arvalis*). Heredity 86: 598–608.
- Vos, C.C. and J.P. Chardon. 1998. Effects of habitat fragmentation and road density on the distribution pattern of the moor frog *Rana arvalis*. Journal of Applied Ecology 35: 44-56.
- Wasser, P.M. and C. Strobeck 1998. Genetic signatures of interpopulation dispersal. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 13: 43–44.
- Weir, B.S. and C.C. Cockerham. 1984. Estimating F-statistics for the analysis of population structure. Evolution 38: 1358–1370.
- Weir, R.D. and A.S. Harestad. 2003. Scale-dependent habitat selectivity by fishers in South-central British Columbia. Journal of Wildlife Management 67(1): 73-82.
- Wiens J.A. 1976. Population responses to patchy environments. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. 7: 81-120.
- Wiens, J.A. 1989. Spatial scaling in Ecology. Functional Ecology 3(4): 385-397.
- Wiens J.A. 2001. The landscape context of dispersal. In: Clobert J., Danchin E., Dhondt A.A. and Nichols J.D. (eds). Dispersal. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, pp. 96–109.
- Wilbert, C. J. 1992. Spatial scale and seasonality of habitat selection by martens in southeastern Wyoming. M.S. Thesis. University of Wyoming, Laramie.
- With, K. A., R. H. Gardner, and M. G. Turner. 1997. Landscape connectivity and population distributions in heterogeneous environments. Oikos 78:151-169.
- Wright, S. 1943. Isolation by distance. Genetics 28:114–138.
- Young, A. and G. Clarke. 2001. Demography and viability of fragmented populations. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY.
- Zack, Art pers. Comm. 2006. USFS IPNF Ecologist. USFS Supervisors Office, Couer D'Alene Idaho, USA.
- Zielinski, W. J., W. D. Spencer, R. D. Barrett. 1983. Relationship between food habits and activity patterns of pine martens. Journal of Mammalogy 64: 387- 396.
- Zielinski, W.J. and T.E. Kucera, T.E. 1995. American marten, fisher, lynx, and wolverine: survey methods for their detection. U.S. Forest Service General Technical Report PSW-GTR-157.